
Cabinet

Wednesday 10 November 2021 10.00 am

Council Chamber - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of the 
Council

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 12)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 22 September 2021 
(minutes attached).

Leader of the 
Council

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of the 
Council

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 4 November 2021.

Please submit any questions to 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk  

A written answer will be provided for each written question received (to 

Leader of the 
Council

mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


10 November 2021

be presented to the questioner and to Cabinet (in advance of the 
meeting). The questions and answers will be taken as read and will not 
be read out at the meeting. At the discretion of the Leader of Council, 
each questioner ( in attendance at the meeting) will be allowed to ask 
one supplementary question (in response to the answer given to the 
original question). 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

Other Decisions

5 Report by the Monitoring Officer on an Investigation by the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman into a 
complaint about Gloucestershire County Council (Pages 13 - 
20)

Monitoring Officer

Executive Director 
of Adult Services 
and Public Health

Key Decisions

6 Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the Dynamic 
Purchasing System for Transport (Pages 21 - 30)

Cabinet Member - 
Economy, 
Education and 
Skills

7 Delivery of structural maintenance works 2022-2026. (Pages 
31 - 40)

Cabinet Member - 
Highways and 
Flood

8 Market Shaping and Review of the Adult Social Care 
Commissioning & Estate Strategies (Pages 41 - 54)

Cabinet Member - 
Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

9 Establishment of a Day Centre provision for care assisted 
young people at Trevone House (Pages 55 - 66)

Cabinet Member - 
Children's 



10 November 2021

Safeguarding and 
Early Years

10 Implementing a Modified Dynamic Purchasing System (MDPS) 
for Professional Services in Childrens Social Care (Pages 67 - 
76)

Cabinet Member - 
Children's 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

11 Children & Families Capital Programme Update (Pages 77 - 84) Cabinet Member - 
Economy, 
Education and 
Skills

12 Financial Monitoring Report (Pages 85 - 98) Deputy Leader 
and Cabinet 
Member - Finance 
and Change

Cabinet
Cllr Stephen Davies, Cllr David Gray, Cllr Philip Robinson, Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, 
Cllr Carole Allaway-Martin, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Vernon Smith, 
Cllr Lynden Stowe and Cllr Kathy Williams

NOTES
1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 

make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Director of Policy, Performance and 
Governance ( 01452 328506 e-mail: rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the 
meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Stephen Bace, Lead Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324204/e-mail: 
stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 

mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.bace@gloucestershire.gov.uk


10 November 2021

a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.



CABINET

22 September 2021

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Minutes

PRESENT
MEMBERSHIP:

Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE - Leader of Council
Cllr Lynden Stowe – Deputy Leader & Cabinet Member for Finance and Change
Cllr Stephen Davies – Cabinet Member for Childrens Safeguarding and Early 
Years
Cllr Carole Allaway Martin – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning
Cllr Dave Norman – Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries
Cllr Phil Robinson – Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Tim Harman – Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities
Cllr David Gray – Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning

-

Apologies:

1. Apologies 

Cllr Vernon Smith – Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood
Cllr Kathy Williams – Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Delivery

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting on 21 July 2021 were agreed as a correct record.

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

A total of 2 public questions were asked at the meeting. 

A total of 24 member questions were asked at the meeting.

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

5. Recommissioning of a Move-on and Enablement Service for Young People 
with Disabilities in Stroud 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning, 
sought Cabinet approval of commissioning plans that will allow for the continued
provision of a move-on and enablement support service for young people
with learning disabilities in Stroud from April 2022.

This was a recommissioning exercise (via an open tender process) to ensure 
continuity of a long-standing and successful provision of service, and provide 
contract longevity and security. This had started as a pilot scheme and looking to 
expand throughout Gloucestershire. The Service would be for young people aged 
16-25 with mild to moderate learning disabilities who have the potential to live 
independently, free from long-term paid social care support, but require a period of 
intense, accommodation-based enablement (for up to 2 years) to achieve this level 
of independence.
The service would support individuals to achieve their full potential by providing a 
high-quality enablement service which engaged with community partners i.e. 
education providers, employers/employment facilitators, housing providers, local 
authority, VCS organisations, to ensure the best possible outcomes are achieved 
for the individuals accessing the service.
Individuals would have eligible social care needs upon entry to the scheme. 
Analysis from the current provision (Appendix 2 of Cabinet report) shows 82% of 
individuals who have moved-on from the current scheme within the past 6 years 
have done so to independent housing with no requirement for ongoing long-term 
paid social care support. 

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health 
in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:

a) Conduct a compliant tender process for the award of a three year
(with provision for an optional two-year extension) move-on and
enablement service for young people with mild/moderate learning
disabilities (LD) in the Stroud locality.

b) Upon conclusion of the tender process, award and enter into contract
with the provider who has been evaluated as achieving the highest
requisite score against the relevant evaluation criteria, as set by the
Council.

c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract for a
further period of not more than two years on expiry of the initial three

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

year term.

6. Recommissioning of an Expert by Experience (EBE) led Quality Assurance 
(QA) Programme for health & social care commissioned services for people 
with disabilities.. 

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning, 
sough Cabinet approval of commissioning plans that will allow for the continued
provision of an Expert by Experience (EBE) led Quality Assurance service
for health and social care services provided for people with disabilities from
April 2022.

This was a recommissioning exercise (via an open tender process) to ensure 
continuity of an Expert by Experience (EBE) led Quality Assurance (QA) service for 
commissioned health and social care services. The recommendations in the report 
outlined that this was for the provision of an all-disabilities (bringing together the 
existing 3 separate contracts for learning disabilities, physical disabilities, autism 
and mental health) service that would be responsible for providing QA across all 
service types including residential care, supported living, domiciliary care, 
Assessment and Treatment Units (ATUs), day opportunities and respite care. 

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Adult Social
Care and Public Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Adult
Social Care Commissioning to:

a) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract
for the supply of Expert by Experience (EBE) led quality checking
service for health and social care commissioned support for people
with disabilities (learning disabilities, physical disabilities, mental health
and autism) for an initial period of three years and include an option to
extend its term for a further period of up to two years;

b) Upon conclusion of the tender process award and enter into contract
arrangements with the preferred tenderer; and

c) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend the contract for a
further period of not more than two years on the expiry of the initial
three-year term.

7. Community Meals – Re-Procurement 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Cllr Carole Allaway Martin, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning, 
sought Cabinet approval to consider options for the community meals service going 
forward,including approval to procure a new three year community meals service 
contract for Gloucestershire which includes two extension options each 12 months 
in length. In addition to request the continued delivery of the community meals 
contract’s term (due to expire on the 31st October 2021) to cover the period whilst 
the procurement exercise was undertaken and new contractual arrangements were 
put in place.  The report also provided  information on work being undertaken to 
refine the criteria for allocating Community Meals and how this links into alternative 
community-based options that support people to help themselves whilst linking with 
their local community, in line with Gloucestershire County Council’s Looking to the 
Future Strategy 2019-2022.

The report detailed the history and background and provided an outline on how to 
move the service forward. The requirements document, specification and evaluation 
questions to procure the service were currently being developed. These would need 
to be finalised once the Cabinet decision has been made.

The Cabinet Member highlighted the extensive work from officers and consultees 
on the paper.

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Approve the procurement of a council commissioned, partially subsidised, 
community meals service in Gloucestershire which supports vulnerable individuals 
by helping them cope with daily living and which also provides short term help 
supported by comprehensive advice and information to ensure they regain their 
confidence and independence and therefore delegates authority to the Executive 
Director of Adult Social Care & Public Health in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:

(a) conduct a competitive tender process in respect of a contract for the provision of 
community meals services in Gloucestershire (the “Community Meals Contract”). 
The proposed contract shall continue for an initial period of 3 years and include two 
extension options each 12 months in length.

(b) award such contract to the preferred tenderer.

(c) apply an inflationary uplift each year in line with other commissioned community 
based services.

(d) determine whether to exercise each of the two contract extension options under 
the Community Meals Contract (each 12 months in length) on the third and fourth 
anniversaries thereof respectively.

2. Continue with existing contract delivery arrangements whilst undertaking the 
proposed procurement exercise.

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

8. The procurement of highway services and construction phase works in 
connection with the delivery of Blakeney West Geotechnical Stabilisation 
Scheme 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne on behalf of Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Flood asked Cabinet to delegate authority to the Head of Highway Authority (in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) for the purpose of 
procuring highway services and construction phase works, through competitive 
tender, in relation to Blakeney West Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme and 
awarding contracts for the provision of such services and works.

In addition, it would be necessary to make further ancillary orders in order to 
successfully implement the Project and authority was sought to enable GCC to 
make legal orders (such as temporary traffic regulation orders (TTROs for speed 
limits etc.)) during the construction phase of the Project.

The new Road in Blakeney was one of the primary link roads between the A48 and 
the centre of the Forest of Dean. In February 2020 a section of the slope supporting 
New Road underwent movement, which resulted in partial failure of the westbound 
lane. A road closure was subsequently installed which remained in place.  

The carriageway closure had increased traffic on the local lanes as some road 
users have disregarded the official diversion route. This had resulted in concern 
from local residents and political pressure to reopen the carriageway as soon as 
possible. 

A ground investigation was completed in November 2020, this indicated that the 
carriageway was underlain by up to 3.5m of Made Ground (primarily quarry waste) 
with Unweathered Brownstone Formation (weathered mudstone and sandstone) 
below.   The slope required stabilisation for a length of approximately 50m, in 
association with full road reconstruction and installation of a new drainage system 
to effectively manage surface water.

Cabinet authorisation would enable the Council to engage with suppliers to secure 
a Construction Phase works contract, which would provide the best opportunity to 
meet the required timescales.

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegates authority to the Head of Highway Authority (in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) to:

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

1. conduct a competitive procurement process(es) for the supply of highway 
services and construction phase works in relation to the Blakeney West 
Geotechnical Stabilisation Scheme and awarding contracts for the provision of such 
services and works and

2. make any other ancillary traffic regulation orders that might be required in order 
to successfully implement the Project (such as temporary traffic regulation orders 
(TTROs for speed limits etc.)) during the construction phase of the Project.

9. Highways Major Project Framework Contract 

Cllr Mark Hawthorne on behalf of Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways 
and Flood sought Cabinet approval for the Executive Director of Economy, 
Environment & Infrastructure to be authorised to procure a highways framework 
agreement for a term of four years with an estimated value of £60 million over its 
term. The proposed framework agreement would  be set up under two lots; one for 
Highways Schemes and the other for Structures and Geotechnical Schemes.

The decision would allow engagement with potential suppliers in relation to the 
framework agreement and would ensure best value for money and best opportunity 
to meet the timescales set out in funding contributions for the delivery of Major 
Projects As well as being more efficient would also allowed for us to get into 
contract more quickly which was useful when responding to externally provided 
time limited funding to deliver a piece of work.

The proposed decision would also allow the Council the best opportunity to deliver 
objectives linked to Council Strategy and the Local Transport Plan, providing the 
infrastructure needed to support sustainable growth; delivering major active travel 
schemes and helping businesses grow and thrive through investment in the public 
highway.

The Highways Major Projects Framework would in part be assessed against social 
value and environmental criteria to ensure suppliers fully comply with the Councils 
requirements

One member welcomed the investment in Cheltenham Transport scheme.

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment & 
Infrastructure (in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood) to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a four year Framework 
Agreement for the supply of highway construction services required by the council 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

in relation to Highways Major Projects. Such framework agreement shall comprise 
two lots; one for Highways Schemes and the other for Structures and Geotechnical 
Schemes. No more than eight preferred tenderers shall be appointed to each lot. 
Preferred tenderers will be selected based on quality, financial and social value 
criteria.

2. Appoint each of the preferred tenderers to the relevant Lot under such 
Framework Agreement.

10. Procurement of Physical Book Stock for Gloucestershire Libraries 

Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries  
sought Cabinet approval for Gloucestershire Libraries & Information to work with 
the Consortium for United Stock Purchase (CUSP) to undertake a procurement for 
the supply of physical adult and children’s books for a period of 5 years.

There were 4 elements to the approval being sought as detailed within the report. 
The Council was not committed to spend the full value but the value was set to 
maintain current annual revenue levels for the supply of physical book stock, as 
well as enabling the purchase of stock if additional funding sources are secured 
during the life of the contract. The availability of stock represented one of the core 
service elements of the public library service, meeting the 1964 Libraries and 
Museums Act.

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director for Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Public Protection, 
Parking and Libraries to:

1) Approve the continued membership of the CUSP consortium arrangement

2) Procure as a member of CUSP, led by Somerset County Council, for the supply 
of Adults and Children’s books to combine our budget with other public bodies to 
leverage better value for money

3) Conduct a compliant procurement process in accordance with the arrangements 
with CUSP and using the 376F Library Stock ESPO Framework Agreement for the 
supply of physical stock:

a. to do a direct award for Adult book stock under Lot 1 to Askews & Holts Library 
Services Ltd, which is a single supplier lot.

b. to use ESPO Framework Lot 2 to undertake a mini competition for the supply of 
Children’s and Teen stock

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

4) Award one or more Call-Off Contracts under the ESPO Framework Agreement 
whose combined aggregate value shall not exceed £2million and for a term of up to 
five years.

11. Parking ICT Contracts 

Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries  
sought Cabinet approval for the procurement of a parking and enforcement related 
ICT service contracts, divided into three separate lots, to replace the council’s 
existing parking and enforcement related ICT services contracts.

The Parking team managed the council’s parking and enforcement activities. To 
support this the council utilised three key ICT systems, namely: A PCN Back office 
management system (including correspondence management), cashless parking 
system and a permit management system. The current contract with Chipside 
Limited expired at the end of April 2022 and the council had a requirement for new 
contracting arrangements for these systems after this date.

The member referred Cabinet to the report noting that the contract would be divided 
into three separate lots.  The cost of the three contracts was outlined in the 
resource section and background document. The estimated cost of the contracts 
was £255,000 per annum, or a total contract value of £1,785,000, including 
extension options.

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Delegate authority to the Executive Director: Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Public Protection, 
Parking and Libraries to:

1. Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract divided into 
the following three lots for the purpose of replacing the council’s existing parking 
and enforcement related ICT services contracts:

(a) Lot 1: Replacement ICT back office Penalty Charge Notice (PCN) Management 
system, including the council’s correspondence management requirements;

(b) Lot 2: Replacement Cashless Parking system;

(c) Lot 3: Replacement Permit Management System

Such lots may be awarded to the same tenderer under a single contract or awarded 
to a number of separate tenderers under not more than three separate contracts, 
whose term(s) shall continue for an initial period of 5 years and include an option to 
extend such term(s) for a further period of not more than 2 years.

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

2. Award such contract(s) to the preferred tenderer(s).

3. Determine whether to exercise the option to extend such contract(s) for a further 
period of two years on the expiry of the initial five year term

12. Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service Draft Community Risk Management 
Plan 2022-2025 

Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for Public Protection, Parking and Libraries  
sought Cabinet approval for the objectives and consultation proposals relating to 
the Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) draft Community Risk 
Management Plan (CRMP) 2022-2025.

The proposed consultation would take place with the public, relevant stakeholders 
and partners in an 8 week period between during  October 2021 and November 
2021. A period of 4 weeks pre-consultation was performed in February 2021 to 
inform the development of the first draft. Therefore, a total of 12 weeks consultation 
will have been conducted.

The Fire and Rescue National Framework (2018) set out the Government’s 
priorities and objectives for Fire and Rescue authorities in England; a key priority 
was for the Fire and Rescue Authority (FRA) to develop a Community Risk 
Management Plan (CRMP). The framework placed a legal obligation on all Fire 
Authorities to develop, produce and publish a Community Risk Management Plan 
(CRMP) at least once every 3 years.

Approval was sought on the content of the GFRS draft Community Risk 
Management Plan (CRMP) 2022 - 2025 prepared on the basis of 8 strategic 
objectives. Further to this, approval was also sought to conduct a public 
consultation from 1st October 2021 to 26th November 2021. This aimed to capture 
the views from a representative sample of the community we serve on the 8 
strategic objectives within the CRMP in a Covid-19 safe manner. A detailed 
communications plan had been developed in support of this consultation.

Members noted the detailed background section and were aware of the 
consideration given by the Fire Scrutiny Committee.

One member asked how the Council could encourage individuals to engage with 
the consultation. In response it was explained that the Chief Fire Officer would look 
for every possible way to engage and the Cabinet Member encouraged all 
members to engage with the process. 

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

1. Approve the content of the GFRS draft Community Risk Management Plan 
(CRMP) 2022 - 2025 prepared on the basis of the 8 Objectives set out in Paragraph 
1.4 of this Report; and

2. Delegate authority to the Chief Fire Officer to undertake a public consultation on 
the draft Community Risk Management Plan (CRMP) 2022-2025.

13. Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22 

Cllr Lynden Stowe, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 
gave an update on the Council’s forecast revenue year end position at the end of 
July 2021 which was a £6.743 million overspend all of which was non Covid-19 
related.

The report highlighted the Covid related spend position which was balanced.

Members noted the pressures within Children and Families and the overspend in 
that budget. 

With regards to Capital, the position was 156.719 million.

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet 

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the forecast revenue year end position based on July 2021 (Period 4) 
forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year is an overspend of £6.743 million all of 
which relates to non Covid-19 expenditure, as we are forecasting a balanced 
position in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and income.

2. Note delivery of the £5.453 million of savings against a target of £6.761 million in 
2020/21 or 80.65%, a breakdown is shown at Paragraph 41.

3. Note the forecast capital year end position as at the end of June 2021 of 
£160.163 million against the current budget of £156.719 million.

4. Approve the £1.713 million increase to the capital programme as outlined in 
section C of the report.

14. Schedule of Proposed Disposals 

Cllr Lynden Stowe sought approval for the schedule of disposals proposed to meet 
the capital receipts targets.  Cabinet were being asked to approve the two 
schedules within the exempt appendices. Appendix A had been approved in 
October 2020 and confirmation was required by Cabinet that those sites not yet 
disposed on remained surplus to requirements and Appendix B was a new 
schedule recommended by Property Board as being surplus to requirements. 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

Prior to the discussion, members were advised that, should Cabinet wish to discuss 
the contents of the exempt information reported at Appendix A and Appendix B of 
the report, consideration would need to be given as to whether the press and public 
should be excluded from the meeting in accordance with Regulation 4(2)(b) of the 
Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) 
(England) Regulations 2012.
 
Cabinet agreed to consider this item without having to refer to the exempt 
information.

Approval of both Schedules of Disposals and the declaration of those sites as 
surplus to requirements, would deliver future capital receipts. The Cabinet Member 
explained that selling land and property was the lifeblood of the capital programme.

Asset Management and Property Services were working towards a four year capital 
receipt target of £47 million covering the period April 2021 to March 2025.

Capital receipts received and sales agreed to date for 2021/22 currently totalled 
£7.807m.

Having considered all of the information, Cabinet noted the report and,

RESOLVED to:

1. Confirm that those sites described at Appendix A (Exempt) which have 
previously been declared surplus by Cabinet in March 2021 and not yet disposed 
of, continue to be declared surplus to requirements.

2. Declare the sites listed on the proposed Schedule of Disposals Appendix B 
(Exempt) surplus to the Council’s land and property requirements.

3. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director – Asset Management and Property 
Services to dispose of these sites in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Finance and Change and Council’s Chief Financial Officer.

15. Bus Back Better - Gloucestershire's Bus Service Improvement Plan 

Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills asked 
Cabinet to note the progress to date on developing the Gloucestershire Bus Service 
Improvement Plan (BSIP) and to agree the areas of focus to be included in the 
plan.

This was part of the national Bus Back Better scheme run by the DfT. All councils 
were expected to be a part of this. Future investment and funding opportunities 
would be directed at council’s who had a BSIP and Enhanced Partnership 
agreement in place. It was important to make buses an attractive option and 
Councils were encouraged to work in partnership.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

This was a strategy document that was phase one of a two phase process. It was 
meant to be high level and ambitious and serve as a lead into the Enhanced 
Partnership agreement which was phase two. Deadline for the BSIP  to be 
published was 31 October 2021. Enhanced Partnership was to follow with a 
deadline of 31 March 2022.

All transport operators had been consulted and there was an on-going public 
engagement survey that has had over 1000 responses so far. The BSIP would 
provide the backdrop for the Enhanced Partnership agreement which would contain 
detailed and costed projects to achieve the aims stated in the BSIP.

The Cabinet Member outlined the areas of focus as detailed in the report, 
specifically around improving information to help increase confidence in public 
transport, infrastructure, vehicles, bus priority, ticketing and fares, marketing and 
engagement, multi-model integration. 

The Cabinet Member would be returning to Cabinet in early 2022 with an update on 
the entire project and to seek approval for the Enhanced Partnership agreement 
prior to the deadline for submission.

Having considered all of the information. Cabinet noted the report and

RESOLVED to:

1. Note the update and progress to date on the Gloucestershire BSIP;

2. Approve the areas of focus in 1.8 of this report; and

3. Delegate authority to the Executive Director of Economy, Environment and 
Infrastructure to:

(a) further develop and finalise the BSIP in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Economy, Education and Skills, and

(b) submit this to the DfT no later than its deadline of 31 October 2021.

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 10:42

Page 12



REPORT TITLE: Report by the Monitoring Officer on an Investigation by the Local Government 
and Social Care Ombudsman into a complaint about Gloucestershire County Council 

Cabinet Date 10th November 2021

Cabinet Member N/A
Report being brought by:
Rob Ayliffe, Monitoring Officer
Sarah Scott, Executive Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health 

Key Decision No

Purpose of Report To advise Cabinet of a finding of maladministration and injustice by the 
Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) and to 
recommend the actions the Council needs to take in response.

Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Accepts in full the LGSCO’s recommendations as set out in sections 
13 and 14 of this report;

2. Supports and endorses the actions identified by the Executive Director 
of Adult Social Care and Public Health as set out in paragraphs 15 to 
23 of this report.

3. Meets the LGSCO’s requirement to prepare a report setting out its 
response by sending to all County Councillors a copy of this report and 
of the minutes of the Cabinet meeting at which it is discussed.

Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure that the LGSCO’s recommendations are acted upon, and that 
lessons are learnt to ensure that a similar injustice does not occur again.

Resource 
Implications

The LGSCO report recommends that the Council makes payments totalling 
£2,350 to the service user and her former carer to reflect the injustice 
caused to each of them.  These payments will be made from existing 
budgets.
As the wider changes needed have either already been made, or are 
underway, there are no additional resource implications associated with 
these.

Page 13

Agenda Item 5



Background 
Documents

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Report:  Investigation into a 
complaint about Gloucestershire County Council (reference number: 
19014556).  A copy of the report can be found at  
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/19-014-
556  

Statutory Authority This is a formal report by the Monitoring Officer issued under Section 5a of 
the Local Government and Housing Act 1989

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

N/A

Officers Name:  Rob Ayliffe
Tel:  01452 328506
Email:  
rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Name:  Sarah Scott
Tel:  01452 328497
Email:  
sarah.l.scott@gloucestershire.gov.
uk

Timeline In accordance with para 146 of the LGSCO report, The Council must 
consider the report and confirm within three months (i.e. 27th January)  the 
action it has taken or proposes to take. The Council should consider the 
report at its full Council, Cabinet or other appropriately delegated committee 
of elected members and the LGSCO will require evidence of this. (Local 
Government Act 1974, section 31(2), as amended.)

Page 14

https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/19-014-556
https://www.lgo.org.uk/decisions/adult-care-services/domiciliary-care/19-014-556
mailto:rob.ayliffe@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.l.scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:sarah.l.scott@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. This is a statutory report issued by the Monitoring Officer under Section 5A of the Local 
Government and Housing Act 1989, which sets out certain circumstances under which 
the Monitoring Officer is required to issue a report to the Executive.  

2. In this case, a Section 5A report is required as a result of the Local Government and 
Social Care Ombudsman (LGSCO) having issued a public interest report, finding the 
Council at fault of maladministration causing injustice. The purpose of such a report is 
to ensure that the findings of the LGSCO are brought to the attention of the Cabinet, 
reflecting the seriousness of a formal finding of maladministration and injustice and for 
Cabinet to put its full support behind fulfilling the recommendations as quickly as 
possible.

3. The LGSCO report concerns a complaint brought by an individual receiving adult social 
care services, referred to throughout this report as Miss X.  Miss X has severe 
disabilities that mean she needs significant support in meeting her care needs.  

4. In view of its subject matter, this report has been co-authored with the Executive 
Director of Adult Social Care and Public Health.  

5. In order to remedy the injustice caused, the LGSCO makes a number of 
recommendations to the Council that are fully supported in this report to the Cabinet.

6. As soon as practicable after consideration of this report, the executive is required to 
prepare a report which sets out:

 What action, if any, the Executive has taken in response to the report
 What action, if any, the Executive proposes to take and when, and
 The reasons for taking the action specified, or for taking no action.

7. The report of the Executive must be sent to all County Councillors and to the Monitoring 
Officer as soon as practicable and no later than 3 months of the publication date (so by 
27th January 2022).

8. It is suggested that the most appropriate means of meeting that requirement is to send 
to all County Councillors and the Monitoring Officer a copy of this report and of the 
minutes of the Cabinet meeting at which it is considered.

9. The Council is also required by the LGSCO to place two public notice announcements 
in local newspapers and/or newspaper websites to publicise its report and to make 
copies of it available free of charge at the Council’s offices.  

The LGSCO’s findings and recommendations

10.The LGSCO’s report contains some difficult messages for the Council.  It is clear that, 
on this occasion, the Council failed to meet the standards that individuals that receive 
adult social care services expect of us, and missed opportunities to put things right at 
an earlier stage.

Page 15



11.The LGSCO’s investigation concluded that the Council failed Miss X in a number of 
ways, including: 

 Failing to ensure that her eligible care needs were met at home, causing 
avoidable, undue significant distress, inconvenience and frustration;

 Failing to carry out a carer’s assessment, resulting in undue significant stress 
and frustration for her carer, and uncertainty for Miss X in how her needs would 
be met;

 Failing to properly consider professional advice from Miss X’s dietician and GP 
when producing her care plan;

 Failing to assess Miss X’s night-time needs, causing her unnecessary distress;
 Failing to communicate effectively with Miss X or her advocate, causing 

uncertainty and contributing to distrust between her and the Council.

12.A summary of the LGSCO’s decision is set out on their website at 
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2021/oct/council-fails-to-take-on-board-
expert-advice-when-assessing-woman-s-care-needs

13.The LGSCO recommends the following actions in order to remedy the Council’s fault:

a) To apologise in writing to Miss X for the injustice caused by the faults
b) To make a payment to Miss X of £2050 to reflect the injustice caused
c) To apologise in writing to Miss X’s former carer
d) To make a payment of £300 to Miss X’s former carer to reflect the injustice 

caused.

14.The LGSCO also recommends the following service improvements:
e) To remind staff of the likely requirement to reassess someone’s care needs 

when their circumstances change or deteriorate, in line with the Care Act
f) To remind staff that they must consider medical evidence / opinion in line with 

the Care Act
g) To ensure that the Council is able to access records of carers’ assessments 

carried out by contracted services (in this case, Gloucestershire Carers Hub)
h) To remind staff to use carers’ assessments in care and support plans in line with 

the Care Act, being particularly mindful of paragraph 6.65 of the guidance, which 
states “The intention of the whole family approach is for local authorities to take 
a holistic view of the person’s needs and to identify how the adult’s needs for 
care and support impact on family members or others in their support network.” 

i) To share the LGSCO’s decision with relevant staff including management, and 
discusses the findings at appropriate team meetings.

The LGSCO’s recommendations and actions taken to date

15.The failings investigated by the LGSCO occurred between March and November 2019.  
As a result, some changes have already been made that have addressed the concerns 
raised by the LGSCO.  The following section summarises the actions already taken and 
those that are still outstanding.

16.The County Council has written to Miss X and Miss X’s former carer to apologise 
profusely for injustice and any distress caused by the lapses in the practice of the Adult 
Social Care team.  The Council is, at the time of writing this report, in the process of 

Page 16

https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2021/oct/council-fails-to-take-on-board-expert-advice-when-assessing-woman-s-care-needs
https://www.lgo.org.uk/information-centre/news/2021/oct/council-fails-to-take-on-board-expert-advice-when-assessing-woman-s-care-needs


making the payments of £2050 to Miss X and £300 to Miss X’s former carer as 
recommended by the LGSCO.

17.The Director of Adult Social Care Operations, together with the Head of Adult Social 
Care Operations has formally met with each of the Adult Social Care Operational teams 
and related members of management to brief them on the implications arising from the 
report and the training that will be delivered to their teams.

18. In order to implement the wider LGSCO recommendations outlined above, the Adults 
Principal Social Worker, in conjunction with an independent training consultant, has 
instigated a programme of mandatory Care Act refresher training sessions which were 
delivered to all Adult Social Work teams in Gloucestershire during the month of October 
2021; two dates per team were provided to ensure all staff attended.  The content of the 
training programme specifically reflected the practice areas identified by the LGSCO 
outlined above in paragraph 14, points e, f, h and i.  The Adults Principal Social Worker 
has further provided additional practice guidance to support workers in taking a whole 
family approach in the course of their duties.  

19.With respect to LGSCO’s recommendation, stated above in paragraph 14.g, the 
contract for support to carers has since been recommissioned and now all statutory 
carers’ assessments are sent to Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and uploaded 
onto the client case management system (Liquid Logic, Adult System).  Following this, 
Adult Social Care staff have full access to the information. Holistic assessments (those 
which are not undertaken on a statutory basis) are held by Gloucestershire Carers Hub 
(GCH) but GCC is classed as data controller in the contract to ensure that we have 
access to this data if required. 

20.Since the period to which the complaint relates, Adult Social Care has been through a 
process of changing the way in which it engages with and provides support to the 
residents of Gloucestershire and their carers.  We now take a strengths-based 
approach in practice and this in turn has led to differences in the way staff undertake 
their duties, are supported and supervised within their teams and more widely in their 
practice and development.  This includes the following measures.

 Within teams, staff work in smaller sub groups known as “hubs”, each with a hub 
lead; this allows the work of each hub member to be known by others in the hub 
and ensures management oversight by the hub lead.

 Each hub meets regularly during each week with their hub lead.  These meetings 
provide the opportunity for members to discuss the people they are working with, 
share ideas, problem-solve, support and constructively challenge one another.  

 Practice Development Social Workers routinely join these hub discussions with a 
view to supporting staff in their practice, maintaining legal literacy.

 Teams are structured to provide those staff who are responsible for carrying out 
assessments with access to Social Care Leads and Social Work leads, together 
with Senior Social Workers all working collaboratively to support and develop 
people’s practice.  Teams are led by Integrated Social Care Managers (ISCM’s), 
supported by Deputy Social Care Managers (DSCM’s).  

 Legal sessions are held monthly, enabling staff to pro-actively seek advice from 
the Adult Social Care Legal team.  They also have access to urgent legal advice 

Page 17



separately as needed.  Additional resources within the legal team are being 
considered as part of this year’s Medium Term Financial Strategy.

 Members of the Adult Social Care management team meet with the Complaints 
team regularly to ensure any learning from complaints is captured and reflected 
in service delivery.

 An ISCM has been assigned lead responsibility for maintaining links with Carers 
services.

 A suite of training videos is available on Staffnet for staff to review and refresh 
their application of our “Make the Difference” strengths-based practice model.

21. In wishing to take the opportunity for learning from this decision further, the Directorate 
has taken the additional action of procuring an independent review of current Adult 
Social Care practice and processes pertaining to the assessment, review, 
reassessment and care and support planning for individuals and their carers.  

22.We hope the review will confirm that these changes to practices and processes will 
reduce the risk of the practice faults identified by the LGSCO happening again.  We 
also hope the independent review will identify the areas where practice is good, 
together with areas where further improvements may be needed.  This review is being 
undertaken by an Adults’ Principal Social Worker from a neighbouring authority, acting 
as an independent critical friend.  We have asked them to complete a report of their 
findings and any recommendations in time for the Cabinet meeting on 10 November 
2021 to allow Members to be further assured that Adult Social Care Services are taking 
all necessary steps to strengthen practise, where necessary.  Implementation of any 
actions will be led by the Director of Adult Social Care Operations in conjunction with 
the Adults’ Principal Social Worker and Head of Adult Social Care Operations.

23.While we deeply regret the Council’s failure to provide Miss X and her former carer with 
the support they deserved and were entitled to, we believe that the change programme 
implemented over the last three years, along with the measures taken to implement the 
LGSCO’s recommendations and any further action taken as a result of the independent 
review, mean that the standards of practice, supervision and accountability in place 
now would prevent a similar injustice from happening again.

Options

24.Cabinet’s options are:
 To accept and implement the LGSCO’s recommendations in full.  This is the 

recommended option.

 To reject the findings either in full or in part would miss the opportunity to make 
the necessary improvements to practice.  It would also result in further action by 
the LGSCO and reputational damage to the Council.  If the Council ultimately 
does not take satisfactory action it must publish a statement of non-compliance 
in a local newspaper explaining why it has refused to follow the LGSCO’s 
recommendations.

Risks 

Page 18



25.Failure to apply the lessons learnt from this investigation would result in individuals 
receiving Adult Social Care services being exposed to unnecessary risk of distress and 
potential harm.  However, as this report shows, steps have already been taken to 
address the concerns this case raises.  This, along with implementing the remaining 
recommendations, will reduce that risk.

Financial implications

26.The LGSCO report recommends that the Council makes payments totalling £2,350 to 
the service user and her former carer to reflect the injustice caused to each of them.  
These payments will be made from existing budgets.

27.The independent review has been commissioned using existing budget resources, and 
any financial implications arising from its recommendations will be considered as part of 
the outcome of that review.

28.As the wider changes needed have either already been made, or are underway, there 
are no additional resource implications associated with these.

Climate change implications

29.There are no climate change implications arising from this report.

Equality implications

30.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? No

31.As this is a statutory report in response to the findings of the LGSCO, no equality 
impact assessment has been prepared.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

32.The LGSCO recommends that the Council ensures that it is able to access records of 
carer’s assessments carried out by contracted services.  The necessary arrangements 
have been made to ensure that the necessary contracts and agreements are in place to 
facilitate this data sharing and to ensure that appropriate governance is in place. 
Further detail can be found in paragraph 17.

Social value implications
33.There are no social value implications directly arising from this report.

Consultation feedback

34.As required by law, the Monitoring Officer has consulted the Chief Executive as Head of 
Paid Service and the Chief Finance Officer on its content.  

Officer recommendations

35.That the Cabinet:

Page 19



1. Accepts in full the LGSCO’s recommendations as set out in sections 13 and 14 
of this report;

2. Supports and endorses the actions identified by the Executive Director of Adult 
Social Care and Public Health as set out in paragraphs 15 to 23 of this report.

Performance management/follow-up 

36. It is recommended that progress in delivering the outstanding actions, including any 
arising from the Independent Review, is reported to the Cabinet Members for Adult 
Social Care Commissioning and Adult Social Care Delivery and to the Adult Social 
Care and Communities Scrutiny Committee within 6 months and until such a time as 
the actions are completed.

37.Any decisions arising from the Independent Review will be taken in line with the 
Council’s constitution.

Page 20



REPORT TITLE: Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the Dynamic Purchasing 
System for Transport

Cabinet Date 10 November 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Philip Robinson, Economy, Education and Skills

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report The Procurement and Award of Transport Contracts under the 
Gloucestershire County Council Passenger Transport Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS) 

Recommendations

1) That Cabinet delegates authority to the Lead Commissioner Community 
Infrastructure in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Economy, 
Education and Skills to:

a) Conduct a competitive procurement process under the 
Gloucestershire County Council Passenger Transport Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS) (the “Transport DPS”) in respect of each 
of the proposed contracts for transport services set out in Appendix 
1 to this report.  Each such contract shall continue for a period of 7 
years commencing on the contract start between 22 November 
2021 and 31 March 2023; 

b) Award each such contract to the relevant preferred tenderer.

2) That Cabinet notes the update set out in Appendix 2 to this report from 
the Integrated Transport Unit summarising transport contracts awarded to 
date using the Transport DPS since its launch in February 2020, as 
required by the Cabinet decision of 24 July 2019.

Page 21

Agenda Item 6



Reasons for 
recommendations

This Report seeks approval to procure and award contracts for passenger 
transport services to enable members of the public to access essential 
services including health and education within the resources available to the 
Council, and for the Council to meet its statutory obligation to provide home 
to school transport to eligible students. 

As part of the Council’s legal obligations with regard to transparent decision 
making, transport contracts with an estimated gross value in excess of the 
Council’s Key Decision threshold of £500,000 must be published in advance 
and require Cabinet approval prior to procuring them using the Transport 
DPS.  This report considers these contracts and also those with an 
expected value of over £250,000, as anything over this amount would need 
consultation with the lead cabinet member prior to officer approval.

Resource 
Implications The procurement and award of each of the contracts set out in Appendix 1 

will be undertaken using existing staff and financial resources. Estimated 
maximum 7 year costs for each of the contracts are set out in Appendix 1, 
though actual costs will depend on the outcome of each compliant tender 
process under the Transport DPS. Some of the contracts will be fully or 
partly paid for using developer funding (usually section 106) where they are 
designed specifically in response to the need to serve new developments. 

Page 22



Background 
Documents

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015
Cabinet report October 2014 “Procurement of Transport Services” and 
Cabinet report February 2016 “Dynamic Purchasing System”.
Cabinet report February 2016 “Review of Public Transport Community 
Transport and Concessionary Fares”
Cabinet Report July 2017 “Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under 
the Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport”
Cabinet Report July 2018 “Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under 
the Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport”
Cabinet report March 2019 “Cost Pressures and Continued Support for 
Subsidised Bus Contracts”
Cabinet report July 2019 “Establishing a Dynamic Purchasing System for 
the Procurement of Transport Contracts”

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/67
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/5/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=11963
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=
7665&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID
=8900#AI21268
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID
=9225#AI23123
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1332

Statutory Authority Transport Act 1985 and subsequent revisions

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Tom Main
Tel. no: 01452 425343
Email: tom.main@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline November 2021 – Cabinet decision
November 2021- March 2023 – contract procurement and award

Page 23

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/67
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/5/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=11963
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=7665&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=7665&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=8900#AI21268
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=8900#AI21268
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=9225#AI23123
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=9225#AI23123
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1332


Background 

1.1 The Council recognises the value of local bus services in enabling people to live active 
lives, maintain social networks, and access essential education, training, employment 
and health services. Whilst approximately 90% of bus trips made in Gloucestershire are 
on commercial services these tend to be in more densely populated areas and at busier 
times of the day and week. The Council has powers to fund local bus services that are 
not provided on a commercial basis by transport operators and are deemed “socially 
necessary”. This helps to manage the risk of social isolation and enables rural and 
suburban communities to remain vibrant places in which to live, work and visit.

1.2 The annual cost to the Council of funding socially necessary local bus services and 
community transport is approximately £3.5 million, while approximately £5 million is 
spent annually on mainstream home to school services. The Covid-19 pandemic has 
added significant additional costs in the form of lost bus service revenue and additional 
capacity required on home to school services, however for the time being these 
additional costs are covered by a number of Government grant schemes.

1.3 In July 2019 Cabinet approved the establishment of the second Dynamic Purchasing 
System (DPS) by the Integrated Transport Unit (ITU), for the procurement of transport 
contracts. 

1.4 Whilst most contracts have a lifetime cost of less than £500,000, some do exceed this 
level and the July 2019 Cabinet report included a commitment that decisions about such 
services would be taken by Cabinet as part of the approval of annual transport contracts 
forward plan. The alternative would be a series of individual Cabinet decisions 
throughout the year.

1.5 This report is the fifth such report and it seeks authorisation from Cabinet to enable the 
procurement and award of bus service contracts and home to school transport contracts 
which are expected to have an aggregate lifetime cost of over £500,000. We have also 
included all contracts that are expected to have a lifetime cost of over £250,000, as 
otherwise (if not included) these contracts would need consultation with the lead cabinet 
member prior to officer approval, resulting in a  significant time commitment from the 
lead cabinet member.

1.6 The Council’s scope to reduce overall costs of bus service and home to school provision 
and minimise reductions in services is enhanced by being able to procure longer term 
contracts, typically of up to 7 years’ duration. This provides operators with greater 
certainty over investment decisions, such as whether to purchase new vehicles. 
However, it does mean that total contract values are more likely to exceed £500,000. 
The Council can still terminate such contracts in line with the contractual notice terms 
(currently a period of 90 days).

1.7 The specific bus service and home to school contracts to be procured in accordance with 
this report are set out in Appendix 1.

Page 24



Options

2.1 OPTION 1: To approve the proposed procurement and award of the proposed transport 
contracts set out in Appendix 1. Contracts are typically up to 7 years in duration.

2.2 OPTION 2: To procure and award shorter term contracts. This would offer less scope for 
the Council to obtain value for money and would be less likely to result in providers 
investing in newer, cleaner vehicles.

Risks 

1.1 To enable communities to access essential services the Council needs to be able to 
procure transport contracts with a total value in excess of £250,000. Restricting contract 
values by reducing contract lengths would not provide value for money, resulting in 
reduced accessibility to essential services and lower quality vehicles. 

1.2 Failure to procure the contracts set out in Appendix 1 would have a disproportionately 
adverse impact on young, disabled and older people who use local bus services.

1.3 Every year the school bus network needs to be optimised to reflect school leavers and 
new pupils. A failure to approve these recommendations would result in the council being 
unable to meet its statutory obligations under the 1996 Education Act to provide 
transport assistance to entitled school pupils and no longer provide value for money 
transport within agreed budgets.

Financial implications

4.1 As stated in Risk 3.1 and 3.3, best value for each contract is not achieved without the 
ability to procure and award long term contracts with a value of above £250,000. A series 
of shorter term contracts would lead to higher prices from operators over the long term. A 
longer term contract does not contain any additional risk or liability to GCC as we retain a 
notice to terminate clause of 90 days in each contract.

Climate change implications

5.1 The council has declared a Climate Emergency and as part of its action plan it is 
reviewing measures to reduce transport emissions. Public transport services account for 
approximately 1% of these emissions in Gloucestershire so they have an important role 
in the council’s strategy to reduce car based emissions by enabling people to switch to a 
greener form of transport. Newer vehicles, whether fossil or alternative fuel, are a long 
term large investment for all transport providers. By issuing long term contracts we give 
the operator security and confidence that they can invest in newer, cleaner vehicles to 
help the Council achieve its emission savings target and improve local air quality. Short 
term contracts lead to existing, older, lower end vehicles being used, which invariably 
emit far more emissions than newer vehicles. Procurement of long term contracts will 
therefore improve the ability of the Council to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and 
help to tackle climate change.

Page 25



Equality implications

6.1 A standing Equalities Impact Assessment exists for transport services. This has been 
reviewed prior to this report. 

6.2 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order 
to satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

7.1 No personal data is included in the tender process for either mainstream home to school 
or bus service contract tender specifications. There are no implications for this report.

Social value implications

8.1 The majority of operators on the Transport DPS are Gloucestershire-based companies 
who put a significant amount of time and resource into the local economy by employing 
thousands of drivers, passenger assistants, office staff and managers. They also invest 
significantly in training and development of their staff (including apprenticeships). All 
drivers of larger vehicles having to undertake and pass the professional CPC 
qualification. 

8.2 ITU incorporate social value into all of their contracts, and are committed to leveraging 
ITU spend in optimising social value. ITU will be incorporating formal social value 
measures in all above threshold value contract going forward and using current 
measures include the categories “Serving Deprived Areas1” and “Facilities Served2”.

8.3 Many operators also work with and contribute to local charities, and most of our 
Community Transport operators are charities in their own right due to the exceptional 
service they offer to their local area, areas that are less likely to have regular transport 
services due to their extremely rural and sparsely populated nature.

8.4 Transport providers also contribute significantly to the economy in a second way by 
offering residents a chance to move around the county to look for training, education and 
employment. The transport services directly deliver social value. A healthy transport 
network is vital to a growing local economy and also to give people a chance to stay 
connected. Many residents, in particular the young and the old, and those with 
disabilities, do not have access to a car so the only way they can travel to meet family 
and friends, access health appointments and take part in leisure activities is by using the 
public transport network.

1 Description from the Transport DPS: “This will be scored by calculating the number of most 
deprived Super Output Areas (SOA) that a service runs through, and dividing it by the total number 
of SOA on the route. A deprived SOA is defined by being in the Country’s top 40% most deprived 
SOA.”

2 
Description from the Transport DPS: “Weighting will be given to tender submissions that serve more 
sites than defined within the option timetable. Facilities will include Health sites, Education sites, and 
Employment sites. Each will be scored with an equal weighting. Tender submissions will be scored 
proportionally against the highest scoring bid received for that tender.”

Page 26



Consultation feedback

9.1 An extensive consultation process has taken place with the bus operators during the 
establishment of the Transport DPS and with members of the public in respect of 
changes to local bus services. Details are contained within the background papers. More 
recent consultation has taken place with Transport DPS suppliers.

Officer recommendations

10.1 To approve the proposed procurement and award of the proposed transport contracts 
set out in Appendix 1 and to note the summary set out in Appendix 2 to this report of the 
contracts that have been awarded to date via the Transport DPS.

Performance management/follow-up 

11.1   As agreed in the Cabinet decision of 24/07/19, the council’s ITU department will update 
Cabinet again in 2022 with:
(a)  an up-to-date list of all contracts awarded via the Transport DPS;
(b) an update on the status of all contracts to be awarded as per Appendix 1; and 
(c) seek approval from Cabinet to procure and award the next tranche of transport 
contracts with a lifetime value of over £250,000.

Page 27



Appendix 1 – Table of Transport Services to be procured under the council’s 
Transport DPS between November 2021 and March 2023

Service Current operator Route Current annual 
contract price 

Forecast max 7 
year value

35 Stagecoach West Ross-On Wye-Coleford-Monmouth 167,000.00£        1,461,250.00£         
76/77 Stagecoach West Highworth-Fairford-Cirencester 164,000.00£        1,435,000.00£         
60 Stagecoach West Gloucester-Dursley-Wotton-Bristol 85,000.00£          743,750.00£             
65 Stagecoach West Stroud-Dursley-Cam & Dursley 68,000.00£          595,000.00£             
P & Q Pulhams Coaches Cheltenham-Charlton Kings 55,400.00£          484,750.00£             
23A/35A/701/707/708 Lydney DAR Forest Community Tr. Rural Routes 42,762.20£          374,169.25£             
25 Stagecoach West Gloucester-Cinderford-Dilke-Coleford 40,000.00£          350,000.00£             
24 Stagecoach West Gloucester-Mitcheldean-Joy's Green 39,000.00£          341,250.00£             
31 Stagecoach West Gloucester-Cinderford-Coleford 39,000.00£          341,250.00£             

Service Current operator Route Current annual 
contract price 

Forecast max 7 
year value

C374BI Ebley Coaches Archway School 114,950.00£        1,005,812.50£    
C372BU Pulhams Coaches The Cotswold Academy 71,250.00£          623,437.50£       
C372BW Pulhams Coaches The Cotswold Academy 71,250.00£          623,437.50£       
C325BJ Belfitts Dene Magna School 58,900.00£          515,375.00£       
C360BK James Bevan The Dean Academy 56,620.00£          495,425.00£       
C391BD Denwell Tewkesbury School 53,010.00£          463,837.50£       
C325BR Crystal Travel Dene Magna School 49,400.00£          432,250.00£       
C325BT Willetts Dene Magna School 47,405.00£          414,793.75£       
C372CC Pulhams Coaches The Cotswold Academy 47,025.00£          411,468.75£       
C372BX Pulhams Coaches The Cotswold Academy 46,360.00£          405,650.00£       
C332BP Bakers Chipping Campden School 45,410.00£          397,337.50£       
C332BL Pulhams Coaches Chipping Campden School 45,410.00£          397,337.50£       
C332BQ Henshaw's Chipping Campden School 45,410.00£          397,337.50£       
C372CB Pulhams Coaches The Cotswold Academy 45,410.00£          397,337.50£       
C332BJ Bakers Chipping Campden School 44,650.00£          390,687.50£       
C332BM Pulhams Coaches Chipping Campden School 44,650.00£          390,687.50£       
C372BZ Pulhams Coaches The Cotswold Academy 44,460.00£          389,025.00£       
C0552A Crystal Travel John Masefield High School 43,700.00£          382,375.00£       
C372BT Pulhams Coaches The Cotswold Academy 43,225.00£          378,218.75£       
C372CA Pulhams Coaches The Cotswold Academy 43,225.00£          378,218.75£       
C339BR Pulhams Coaches Cirencester Kingshill School 42,750.00£          374,062.50£       
C332BK Bakers Chipping Campden School 42,560.00£          372,400.00£       
C332BN Bakers Chipping Campden School 42,558.10£          372,383.38£       
C348BF Ebley Coaches Thomas Keble School 42,031.80£          367,778.25£       
C339BQ Pulhams Coaches Cirencester Kingshill School 39,900.00£          349,125.00£       
C372BY Pulhams Coaches The Cotswold Academy 39,900.00£          349,125.00£       
C325BM Belfitts Dene Magna School 39,900.00£          349,125.00£       
C348BD Ebley Coaches Thomas Keble School 35,150.00£          307,562.50£       
C325BS Crystal Travel Dene Magna School 34,200.00£          299,250.00£       
C348BC Ebley Coaches Thomas Keble School 34,200.00£          299,250.00£       

Public Transport Contracts to be Procured

Home to School Contracts to be Procured

The purpose of this Cabinet report is to gain approval to procure and award the above 
contracts between November 2021 and March 2023, each for a period of up to 7 years.
The estimated 7 year price also includes an assumption for inflation.

Page 28



Appendix 2 – Summary of Contracts Awarded via the Gloucestershire County 
Council Passenger Transport Dynamic Purchasing System (DPS) from 1 February 
2020 – 23 August 2021

Area of Transport Number of Contracts Total Spend so far

Social Care 243 £545,422.17

Mainstream School 110 £748,486.38
Special Educational 
Needs (SEN) 559 £3,802,766.20

Public Transport 19 £238,441.67

Total 931 £5,335,116.42

This is a summary table of all contracts awarded via the Transport DPS for transport 
services since its launch in February 2020. They are broken down via the area of 
transport, the number of contracts in total (this includes contracts that have since 
ended), and the total spend to date. 

Please note that the total spend to date is just that, not an estimate on the total contract 
value. This is because a high number of contracts particularly in the Social Care and 
SEN area are terminated early due to ever changing needs of the clients. This is to be 
expected but it makes it very difficult to estimate a total for a large majority of the 
network. All of these contracts are far below the £250,000 Officer sign off limit but due 
to the number of them they represent a large section of total spend. 

Page 29



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Delivery of structural maintenance works 2022-2026

Cabinet Date 10th November 2021

Cabinet Member Councillor Vernon Smith, Highways and Flood

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report
To seek approval to procure and award a contract for the delivery of 
structural maintenance works for up to 4 years from April 2022 to 2026, 
following the successful conclusion of the current contract.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Head of Highways in consultation 
with the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood to:

(1) Conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract for 
the supply of structural maintenance works for the purpose of 
surfacing and structural repairs to the County Highways network. The 
proposed contract shall continue for an initial period of 2 years and 
include an option to extend its term for a further period of not more 
than 2 years;

(2) Award such contract to the preferred tenderer; and

(3) Determine whether to exercise the option to extend such contract for a 
further period of not more than 2 years on the expiry of the initial 2 
year term.

Page 31

Agenda Item 7



Reasons for 
recommendations

Following officer assessment, industry investigation and research, and 
consultation with members, a procurement strategy was developed that 
delivered a revised operating model giving the best opportunity for successful 
delivery of highway service. Details of such revised operating model are set 
out in the Background section of this report. Having delivered successfully 
throughout its term, the second contract in this revised model is coming to an 
end in March 2022, hence it is proposed that the council should   procure a 
replacement contract. The Procurement strategy includes an option to extend 
the proposed new 2 year contract by a further period of 2 years if 
predetermined performance levels have been met, thereby providing a more 
efficient use of internal resources and ensuring the continuity of service 
delivery.   

Resource 
Implications The estimated value of the proposed Structural Maintenance Contract is 

£40m over the initial 2 year term and a further £40m over the optional 2 year 
extension period.  For Contract Notice purposes, the contract value range is 
based on predicted budgets over the full term of the contract.   The values 
also include contingency to account for inflation, potential one-off funding 
bids, DfT awards and other unknown possible increases in capital funding 
over the contracted period.

The proposed procurement exercise will be carried out using existing in-
house resources and topped up with external consultancy resources which 
will be funded from existing Highways budgets.  The Highways service is 
funded from Council revenue and capital grant from the Department of 
Transport.

Background 
Documents Cabinet Paper June 2017 – Highways Procurement Strategy Development

Cabinet Paper September 2017 – Highways Procurement Strategy
Delivery of structural maintenance works 2020-2022
Procurement Policy Note PPN 06/21 – Taking Account of Carbon Reduction 
Plans in the procurement of major government contracts

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council holds responsibility for the maintenance of 
highways as the Highway Authority as set out by the Highways Act 1980.

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All - countywide service

Officer Name:  Kath Haworth, Head of Highway Authority
Tel: 08000 514514 
Email: Kathryn.Haworth@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

 

Page 32

mailto:Kathryn.Haworth@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Timeline Issue Contract Notice: by end November 2021
Tenders returned: by 14th January 2022
Tenders evaluated: 14th – 31st January 2022
Tender Awarded: by 1st February 2022
Contract Mobilisation: Feb-Mar 2022
Contract Starts: 1st April 2022

Page 33



Background 

Current contract arrangements

1. A Cabinet report from September 2017 revised and improved the way in which the council 
procured and delivered its Highways Contracts. 

2. The approved model required separate procurement exercises for each of the three following 
contracts:

(a) A seven year (with options for 2 two-year extensions) Term Maintenance Contract: 
procuring a contractor which is typified as “focused and efficient” with a strong 
maintenance delivery background and significant experience of self-delivery 
(delivering services with owned plant and directly employed labour).  Important to 
recognise that we want to procure a long term relationship which is driven by timely 
quality delivery whilst having a strong cost transparency. Awarded to Ringway in 
April 2019.

(b) A two year Structural Maintenance Contract: procuring a direct relationship with a tier 
one contractor that delivers cost-effective resurfacing works in order to maximise the 
additional capital investment in roads over the next five years. Awarded to Tarmac 
Trading Limited in April 2018 and again in April 2020 after a further procurement 
exercise.

(c) A 6 year (with options for 2 two year extensions) Professional Services Contract:  
procuring a long term professional relationship that will support the council on 
technically complex design of works, project management of major schemes and 
provide a strong bidding capability to maximise future financial opportunities. 
Awarded to Atkins in April 2019.

3. As a result of the procurement exercise for the two year Structural Maintenance Contract 
described in paragraph (b), a 2 year contract was entered into with Tarmac Trading Limited 
for Structural Maintenance in April 2018 which came to an end in March 2020. A second 
procurement exercise was carried out in 2019/20 and a 2 year contract was entered into with 
Tarmac Trading Limited in April 2020 which comes to an end in March 2022.

4. Both contracts were for a 2 year term as recommended by the industry to avoid price-
hedging given the volatility in the oil market which drives bitumen prices. For the 2022 
contract we are again seeking to award a 2 year contract but with the option to extend for a 
further 2 years if predetermined performance levels have been met. The prices in the 
extension will be linked to pre-agreed indices. The indices used are the resource cost indices 
published by Building Cost Information Service (BCIS) Price Adjustment Formulae Indices 
for Highways. These have been used successfully since 2019 in the Highways Term 
Maintenance Contract and provide an accurate, robust and widely accepted methodology 
within the Highways industry to account for fluctuations in prices.

Current contractor performance

5. The current contract is performing well and meeting the targets set by the Council. Schemes 
are being managed well and are being delivered on time and to budget. The co-location of 
the provider in council offices is working particularly well.

Page 34



Financial implications

6. Moving structural maintenance design responsibilities back in house has reduced fee-on-fee 
arrangements.  The internal team has enabled significantly more ‘walk talk and build’ and 
better control of risks allowing design fee costs to be reduced.

Procurement Strategy

7. The procurement strategy is to carry on with implementing the authorised procurement 
strategy from the September 2017 Cabinet Paper, Highways Procurement Strategy with the 
addition of the option to extend by 2 years if predetermined performance levels have been 
met. The use of industry recognised price indices recognises the importance of oil prices on 
the market. Officers will use a standard Open evaluation procurement procedure for 
tendering the structural maintenance contract. The industry standard NEC contract will be 
used again, updated to the latest version NEC 4, to align with the Term Maintenance and 
Professional Services contracts and to ensure consistency of delivery.

Procurement timelines

8. The procurement timelines for the proposed tender is:

Issue Contract Notice: by end November 2021
Tenders returned: by 14th January 2022
Tenders evaluated: 14th – 31st January 2022
Tender Awarded: by 1st February 2022
Contract Mobilisation: Feb-Mar 2022
Contract Starts: 1st April 2022

Managing the contracts going forward

9. One of the key risks identified with the revised delivery model was the potential difficulty in 
coordinating works delivery between three contractors.  To help mitigate this challenge, 
officers looked at how the contracts would be managed including the governance 
arrangements.  The following areas are critical to mitigating this interface risk.

 Governance structures
 Performance management linked to contract extensions
 Robust contractual processes for managing poor performance

Governance structures
10. A robust governance structure has been created and is now in operation to manage the 

whole of the highways service which has both strategic and operational boards and for this to 
be placed within the tendering documents.  This structure includes the following:

 Strategic Highways Governance Board:  Focused on ensuring oversight of overall 
highway services delivery and coordination of contracts.  Review of overall 
performance and for resolving escalated or unresolved issues.  Made up of Cabinet 
Members and directors from all of the organisations.

Page 35



 Operational Highways Board:  Focused on ensuring operational delivery is 
coordinated between contractors and for resolving operational and contractual issues.  
Made up of Council managers and managers from each of the highways contractors. 

 Health and Safety Board
Focused on ensuring health and safety is coordinated across all highways service 
delivery, sharing best practice, joining up H&S campaigns and training, making best 
use of H&S resources.  Chaired by the term maintenance contractor it also includes 
H&S representatives from all of the organisations, including wider supply chain.

 Skills Academy
Focused on developing apprenticeship opportunities and a long-term pool of skilled 

highways, construction and civil engineering staff.  The group has representation from 
all of the contractors, local educational facilities, GFirst LEP and the wider supply 
chain.

Alternative Options Considered

11. Various operational delivery model options were explored during the development of the 
procurement strategy.  These options were considered both by senior managers and Cabinet 
members and the cross-party Cabinet Panel.  Options considered included the following:

 Direct Labour Organisation – taking all of the service delivery back in-house.  This 
would include directly employing over 300 staff, substantial set up costs, and risk 
transfer to the authority as well as the significant level of cultural change.

 Teckal company arrangements – setting up an arms-length business to operate the 
service.  High set up costs, risk transfer, significant cultural change and legal advice 
were all deterrents to considering this option.

 Single Provider – loss of control, higher costs and performance failure and reputation 
risks were deterrents.

 Framework contracts – although seen to deliver good value, significant contract 
management and internal client team is required to make this model successful.

Conclusion 

12. Following industry best practice and research and taking on feedback from members, a 
procurement strategy was developed that involved the Council’s delivery model taking back 
control of elements of service delivery whilst retaining and strengthening the arrangements 
for managing the whole service with the contractors employed to delivery the service on the 
ground.  

13. The model is working well and Officers would like to continue the good work and ensure a 
seamless transition into the next phase of procurements. On this basis, officer advice is to 
authorise the procurement process and contract award described in the “Recommendations” 
section of this report.  

Risk Assessment

14. Risks are mainly in the areas of service continuity, legislative and regulatory, reputational 
and health and safety. In addition, there are specific procurement risks around the selection 

Page 36



of the right contractor to partner with as well as the risks of inflationary cost increases.  
These risks are well understood, and the best practice and industry engagement and 
research has led to the development of a procurement strategy which aims to manage the 
risk profile. 

15. One of the key risks identified with the proposed delivery model is the potential difficulty in 
coordinating works delivery between (potentially) three different contractors.  This will be 
managed through the Gloucestershire Highways governance structures and the NEC 
contract mechanisms.

16. Risk will continue to be regularly reviewed as part of the project management processes 
and any significant changes will be reported to the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood.

Climate Change implications

17. In order to assess providers in this area we are seeking to introduce the principles of the 
recently released Procurement Policy Note PPN 06/21 – Taking Account of Carbon 
Reduction Plans in the procurement of major government contracts. It comes in to effect 
from 30th Sept 2021 for procurements in excess of £5M per annum and requires the 
following;

‘As part of assessing a supplier’s technical and professional ability, In-Scope Organisations 
should include, as a selection criterion, a requirement for bidding suppliers to provide a 
Carbon Reduction Plan confirming the supplier’s commitment to achieving Net Zero by 2050 
in the UK, and setting out the environmental management measures that they have in place 
and which will be in effect and utilised during the performance of the contract’. 

Much more about what the Carbon Reduction Plan details and the pass / fail nature of the 
assessment – here; 
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/99
1622/PPN_0621_Taking_account_of_Carbon_Reduction_Plans__2_.pdf  

18. This is an emerging policy that will be developed for use within the upcoming tender for the 
M5 Junction 10 improvements and the methodology and any lessons learnt from this will be 
introduced in to the Structural Maintenance tender process. 

Equality implications

19. Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes 

20. The specification for the contract is set at a national level and has a range of standards 
integrated within it that are specifically targeted at ensuring that specific groups are catered 
for. These include for example guidance on the design standards of tactile paving services 
and the guidance on inclusive mobility.  

21. The Tender has been developed to ensure that the potential providers take due regard of 
how their business and business practices effect the target groups. At tender stage potential 
providers will be asked to explain:

Page 37

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/991622/PPN_0621_Taking_account_of_Carbon_Reduction_Plans__2_.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/991622/PPN_0621_Taking_account_of_Carbon_Reduction_Plans__2_.pdf


 How their business operations will pay due regard to the target groups in terms of;
 Workforce recruitment and development
 Work planning

 Day to day operations

22. Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

23. The DPIA Decision checklist tool did not identify any implications that required a DPIA to be 
completed for the contract.

Social value implications

24. The Council will be using a new performance and evidence-based approach to Social 
Value, based on the National TOMs (Themes, Outcomes and Measures) which has been 
developed for the Council by the Social Value Portal.  Tenderers will be required to propose 
credible targets against which performance (for the successful Tenderer) will be monitored.  
Tenderers are free to choose those measures that are proportional and relevant to their 
business and this specific contract. However, a key success factor for Tenderers will be to 
demonstrate the ability to deliver against the commitments made. 

25. Tenderers will be required to provide the following as part of their tender:

a) A quantified Quantitative Social Value Proposal; and 
b) A Qualitative Social Value Proposal providing evidence describing how the social value 
being proposed will be delivered against each of the measures offered.   

26. The Council will make provision for these commitments in its contract with the winning 
Tenderer which will then be monitored and reported on periodically throughout the term of 
the contract.

27. The Council recognises that the process of measuring and delivering Social Value requires 
flexibility and a collaborative approach. Agreed Social Value commitments may require a 
certain amount of refinement as a result. A key requirement is the willingness of the provider 
to work openly and transparently with the Authority whilst bearing in mind that the overall 
value of Social Value commitments made must be delivered.

28. Full details on the Social Value Portal and the National TOMs framework is available here 
https://socialvalueportal.com/national-toms/ 

29. This is an emerging policy that will be developed for use within the upcoming tender for the 
M5 Junction 10 improvements and the methodology and any lessons learnt from this will be 
introduced in to the Structural Maintenance tender process.

Consultation Feedback

Page 38

https://socialvalueportal.com/national-toms/


30. Engagement has taken place across the business to understand current requirements and 
feedback obtained from both current customers and contractors. The current delivery model 
of our Highways contracts has now been well tested and challenged over the last 3 years, 
with initial input from the cross-party Cabinet Panel, from the industry through soft market 
testing and evidenced by the successful delivery of the previous 2 iterations of this contract.  

Officer recommendations

31. To authorise the procurement process and contract award described in the 
“Recommendations” section of this report.  

Performance Management / Follow Up

32. The structural maintenance contractor will be given a robust set of key performance 
indicators that will be used to operationally manage the contract and will need to continue to 
demonstrate good performance in order to be considered for the optional extension.

33. The use of the New Engineering Contract (NEC4) will ensure that robust mechanisms are in 
the contract to enable contractual and commercial issues to be resolved.  However, the 
contract will also include a special mechanism for resolving poor performance or lack of 
service delivery by allowing any element of failing service to be substituted by the Council.  

34. Experience tells us that it is unlikely that a contractor will fail in delivery of the entire 
contracted service, but far more likely that they will experience challenges in one or two 
specific areas of service.  This mechanism will include a detailed escalation process where 
issues are first addressed at an operational board level, then escalated to the director level 
governance board before a final ‘substitution’ penalty is applied.  Should the Council have to 
substitute an element of the service the contract will allow for the Council to charge back to 
the contractor any additional costs incurred for delivering the service with an alternative 
provider.  

35. Industry feedback during soft market testing was welcoming of this approach as no 
contractor wants to have a service substitution reported to the market as it impacts directly 
on their ability to bid for other local authority contracts.

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



.

Market Shaping and Review of the Adult Social Care Commissioning & Estate Strategies

Cabinet Date   10 November 2021

Cabinet Member Carole Allaway-Martin

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report The purpose of the report is to seek cabinet approval to undertake a review 
of Gloucestershire’s Adults Health & Social Care Sector, following the Covid-
19 Pandemic, taking particular note of those areas where Gloucestershire 
County Council has the greatest ability to influence, to help manage and 
shape the market in order to contribute to and aid sustainability of the 
independent Health & Social Care Market in Gloucestershire. 

Recommendations

 
That the Cabinet agrees: 

1. To initiate a comprehensive and focused review of the care markets 
following the Covid-19 Pandemic to help manage and shape the market in 
order to influence and aid sustainability of the Independent Health & 
Social Care Market in Gloucestershire, taking particular note of those 
areas where Gloucestershire County Council has the greatest ability to 
influence with a view to supporting the future shape of the market based 
on the demographic profile and projected needs of Gloucestershire  
residents.

2. To consider the outcomes of such review once complete.

Page 41

Agenda Item 8



Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure that, as outlined in The Care Act 2014, Gloucestershire County 
Council is actively working to shape the local care market in order to 
encourage quality, choice, and sufficiency of provision, ensuring particular 
emphasis is placed on identifying the impact of the Covid19 pandemic on the 
Health & Social Care commissioned providers including:

1. Impact on Workforce 

2. Potential changes to purchasing/funding models

The work should also assist in stabilising the care market in Gloucestershire, 
by placing specific emphasis on how we interact with our care home market, 
recognising their ability to provide a different offer through outreach and 
diversification:

1. Using the Council’s Estate Strategy to support the future needs of 
persons falling within the demographic profiles of adult social care 
and; 

2. Meeting the wider aims and long-term vision of Gloucestershire’s 
commissioners in the wider Integrated Care System (ICS) of keeping 
people independent in their communities for longer.

Resource 
Implications

There are sufficient resources within Adult Social Care to undertake the 
review. 
The broader resource implications relate to the ability of the County Council 
to continue to respond to demand for adult social care within the current 
budget will be one of the considerations for recommendation once we have 
finalised the proposed engagement. 

Background 
Documents

N/A 

Statutory Authority Care Act 2014

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All
 

Officer Brenda Yearwood – Head of Integrated Commissioning - Integrated 
Brokerage & Market Management.

brenda.yearwood@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Tel. 07990 675275
Timeline September 2021 – Undertake conversations with commissioners and 

Page 42



representative provider bodies to inform the November Cabinet report.

November 2021 – Cabinet.

November 2021 – January/February 2022 – Engagement with the wider 
market on the impact of Covid19 – Review and recommendation.

March 2022 – Cabinet report on the outcome of the engagement exercise 
together with proposals about the future management and shape of the 
market in order to influence and aid sustainability of the Independent Health 
& Social Care Market in Gloucestershire.

March/April 2022 – implement strategy post Cabinet to include consultation 
on recommendations.

Page 43



Main Report Contents

Introduction

1. As part of the council’s requirements under the Care Act 2014 Gloucestershire 
County Council has a statutory duty to not only meet and fund the needs of people 
eligible for care, but also to shape the local care market to encourage quality, 
choice, and sufficiency of provision. This duty applies to the whole local population, 
including those who pay for their own care. For the purposes of this report the adult 
health & social care sector includes provision of care and support for older people, 
those with a physical or learning disability or a mental health need.

2. The Council has and continues to work closely with the local care market. Over the 
last five years the council has transformed the way in which it delivers adult social 
care. The focus has shifted to supporting independence and people to remain in 
their own homes for as long as possible. This has not only reduced the number of 
people entering residential care but has reduced the length of their stay should they 
need care.

3. Gloucestershire County Council commissions the majority of the care we purchase 
from the independent care sector so part of the council’s role in managing the care 
market is in ensuring that commissioned providers deliver quality care provision 
which meet the needs of the county’s diverse population. Gloucestershire County 
Council are also a partner in the Gloucestershire Care Partnership where care 
homes owned by Gloucestershire County Council are run and managed by the 
Order of St John’s Charitable Trust.  This partnership also manages the Estate 
Strategy a forum for reviewing the current availability and any potential 
developments of care facilities for the county. In addition to this Gloucestershire 
County Council hold a contract with Gloucestershire Health & Care Foundation 
Trust to manage the Reablement & Home First services

4. Demand, in some parts of adult social care appears to be increasing. In fulfilling its 
statutory duty to manage the care market the council will help to ensure there is 
sufficient provision in terms of type and quality of care in the locations needed to 
meet current and predicted future demand. 

5. There are 221 care homes in the county providing 4,450 placements. The Council is 
the main purchaser of placements for working age adults with long term conditions. 
However, the Council purchases approximately 50% of care home provision for 
older people. There was a mixed picture before Covid 19 with some homes being 
nearly exclusively occupied by self-funders and others occupied almost exclusively 
by local authority placements. We are aware that the pandemic has had an impact 
on the self-funder market and are finding that those care homes that we have not 
previously commissioned from, are becoming more open to working with the Local 
Authority. Therefore, part of the engagement exercise is to identify the key drivers 
for this change, the impact of Covid19 and to gauge the long-term impact which this 
change has on the market in future. 

6. There are 237 home care agencies and Gloucestershire County Council 
commissions from approximately a third of these, purchasing in the region of 
350,000 hours per quarter.  

Page 44



7. The council needs to ensure that providers are developing support and services that 
are able to meet the changing needs of our population and the demands of the 
Integrated Care System. This requires developing and delivering care and support 
services which support hospital and community health system flow, keeping people 
independent at home for as long as possible whilst developing support which 
actively promotes individuals’ physical and mental wellbeing.

8. Previously Gloucestershire County Council has reviewed, decommissioned, and 
repurposed services within its direct ownership or influence, to ensure that the 
council was able to comply with its responsibilities in relation to Adult Social Care. 
The Covid-19 pandemic has refocused these responsibilities. The market shaping 
and market management roles outlined under the Care Act 2014 are more important 
than ever as the council works towards aiding the sustainability and sufficiency of 
the wider independent care market for Gloucestershire. 

9. The needs of current population have changed, partially as a result of wishing to 
remain independent for longer and predictions for future demand indicate there is a 
need for more specialist provision in certain parts of the county. For example, 
nursing care, specialist dementia care and specialist neurological support. 
Gloucestershire has only one facility able to offer placements for those with 
neurological conditions so we frequently have to place out of county. By placing 
people in care homes at a distance from their own communities we leave them 
unable to maintain important links with their families, friends, and communities. The 
location of any new provision needs to be planned carefully to ensure it marries up 
with demand or be centralised and supported in a way that encourages interaction 
and connectivity with the communities. 

10.Covid has given rise to issues in terms of the adequacy and suitability of some of 
the care facilities in relation to managing infection control measures indicating that 
some provision is no longer fit for purpose in a post-Covid world.  For example, 
infection prevention and control resources being easily accessible in corridors as 
staff enter and leave rooms. Providers need to have the capability to easily 
implement measures to protect residents and staff from Covid-19, flu, and 
Norovirus. In addition, many of the homes were built at a time when expectations for 
homes (including care homes) were different from now, hence many do not have the 
modern conveniences that people now expect as standard (such as en-suite 
bathrooms and flexible accommodation that can adapt as needs of individuals 
change and develop). There will always be a need for care facilities with shared 
bathrooms to support those requiring assisted bathing etc., however the shape of 
the care market is changing, and work is necessary to ensure ongoing market 
sustainability.

11.Covid has also brought with it an element of market instability. In the last 18 months 
there has been a reduction in the number of people who wish to move to a care 
home. Many of the council’s care home providers have stated that they have 
incurred significant losses during the pandemic and most are declaring that self-
funding requests for residential services have reduced to the point where it has 
become necessary for them to consider the viability of their businesses. The 
business model for residential care relies on a good balance between publicly 
funded and self-funded placements; the loss of self-funders brings a significant risk 
to the market and the overall sustainability of all care home providers. As a result, 

Page 45



some care homes are carrying a high number of vacancies, in total there are over a 
1000 empty care home beds at any one time in Gloucestershire and a surplus of 
beds in five of the six districts. Conversely there has been a greater demand for 
domiciliary care for people who wish to continue to live in their own homes. This 
change has already caused some care homes to close and for others it means a 
lack of financial stability.

12.The increasing number of surplus beds, particularly in the disability and mental 
health sections of the market means that other local authorities often place their 
residents within Gloucestershire. Often the County Council is not advised of these 
placements but it still has a responsibility to ensure that everyone who lives in 
Gloucestershire is safe and to be aware of all placements within its boundary. These 
placement impact on the wider health & social care resources of the county, GP’s, 
hospitals, districts nurses, Rapid Response teams etc., putting additional strain on 
the resources available to meet the needs of the residents of Gloucestershire.

Market Analysis  

13.Previous market analysis and feasibility studies, both desk based and on-site 
analysis, have shown that in some of the districts within Gloucestershire, there is an 
oversupply of care home beds that are used to support the needs of those needing 
Health & Adult Social Care, with approximately 20% under occupancy across this 
section of the care sector. There is also currently an oversupply of ‘standard’ 
residential placements yet we are aware there is a need more specialist care which 
can support people with complex needs across all settings including nursing and 
dementia care. We need to understand how the pandemic has changed the shape 
of the Gloucestershire market.

14.The spread of beds is also not evenly distributed across the county. The majority of 
care homes are based in the two urban districts of the county, (Cheltenham & 
Gloucester) so there are sometimes difficulties in finding services locally for people 
in other areas of the county, therefore connection with families and communities are 
lost at the very time they have the most importance. 

15.Analysis of the wider market has highlighted a lack of facilitates within the county to 
meet the needs of individuals with neurological conditions and acquired brain 
injuries. There is little choice for these individuals when procuring suitable 
placements. Feasibility studies and options appraisals have been undertaken to look 
at identifying a suitable site which could be used or redeveloped to provide a 
purpose-built neurological Care facility. 

Care Market Overview 

16.Gloucestershire has had a surplus of care beds for the past 10 years, which means 
that homes have had to frequently compete for a limited amount of business to 
make their home sustainable. This situation is likely to increase with more people 
choosing to receive care and support in their own home. In addition, over the past 
decade more and more people are choosing to purchase retirement apartments in 
care villages rather than following the traditional care home route. There will always 
need to be a level of residential provision for those requiring 24-hour care or end of 
life nursing and residential care so it is important to support care home providers to 

Page 46



remain sustainable through working with them to manage and shape their offer 
accordingly.

17.The review will consider care home needs on a county and district footprint, the 
needs of our local population and the capacity across the rest of the care market, 
including the availability of domiciliary care or other community-based supports and 
the potential for care homes to assist in the delivery of these types of services.  It 
will make recommendations as to how we can best support and manage the care 
market in Gloucestershire moving forward. The following highlights some of the care 
market challenges at a district level.

18. In the urban areas of Gloucestershire, we have identified that we have a surplus of 
care beds whilst the rural districts tend to have less by way of residential care 
settings. Therefore, where we most need care providers to diversify and provide a 
wider care offering we have the least provision with which to undertake these 
conversations:

i. Cheltenham: There are currently has 25 Care Homes operating in the 
Cheltenham Locality. These 25 homes have the potential to offer 998 care 
home placements and currently 204 of these are vacant. The current 
occupancy level for care home beds in Cheltenham is 73%. 

ii. Cheltenham has the highest level of domiciliary care requests in the 
county. There are 35 providers of home care working in this district 
delivering to 371 clients yet there is still a struggle with provision in some 
areas of the borough, at the time of writing we have 54 individuals waiting 
for care in the borough..

iii. Cotswolds: There are currently 14 care homes operating within this 
district. These homes have the potential to offer the potential of 438 
placements

iv. The Cotswolds is approximately a third of the land mass of the county 
with an equivalent population to the other districts therefore home care 
providers when working to the current model of delivery find it difficult to 
maintain a viable business. There are 26 agencies delivering care to 213 
individuals. The waiting list for home care is 26.

v. Forest of Dean: This district has the least care home capacity in the 
county, with only 14 care homes, offering 275 potential placements. 
However occupancy levels are relatively  high and there are only 31 
vacancies within residential care provision for this district

vi. Home care however is difficult to maintain, the area has similar, though 
not identical, issues to the Cotswolds. There are only 19 agencies 
dedicated to working in the Forest of Dean. At the time of writing there are 
50 individuals waiting for home care in this district. 

vii. Gloucester:. There are currently 23 Care Homes in the Gloucester 
Locality. This equates to 819 care home beds. Currently 178 of these are 
vacant. The current occupancy levels for care home beds for Gloucester 
is 78%. 

Page 47



viii. Gloucester city is the second largest user of home care, yet has the 
highest concentration of providers therefore, competition between 
providers is high so maintaining a sustainable business is compromised 
by a competition-based business model. There are 44 agencies working 
within Gloucester City, however we still have 23 individuals waiting for a 
service.

ix. Stroud: There are currently 22 Care Homes in Stroud district. This 
equates to 697 care home beds. Currently 178 of these are vacant the 
current occupancy level for care home beds in  Stroud is  74%

x. Stroud has the highest level of domiciliary care requests in the county for 
a rural district. There are 36 providers of home care working in this district 
however  there are still gaps in care delivery at the time of writing there 
are 46 people waiting for home care in this district.

xi. Tewkesbury: We currently have 11 residential homes in the Tewkesbury 
district with overall occupancy at 80%. However the district closely 
borders the 2 urban areas of Cheltenham & Gloucester, hence many 
residents living in the wider Tewkesbury Borough tend to access 
residential care in the urban areas of the county. 

xii. The home care market for wider Tewkesbury both gains from, but also 
suffers from, being close to the urban districts. For example, Bishops 
Cleeve benefits from being near to Cheltenham, whilst providers struggle 
to deliver in other areas there are 36 providers working in the wider 
Tewkesbury Borough and there are currently 23 people waiting for home 
care.

xiii. Along with many other providers, the homes managed by the 
Gloucestershire Care Partnership are currently experiencing low levels of 
occupancy across a number of the homes. Despite the council’s attempts 
to utilise beds for the Discharge to Assess pathway to the maximum 
usage (i.e. repurposing of units within the GCP homes to support hospital 
discharge, many of the districts and homes are still not achieving 
business critical or contractual occupancy levels. 

xiv. Table 1, (and the accompanying chart), below shows the current level of 
vacancies in care homes by district. Occupancy changes on a daily basis 
so this represent a snapshot in time but does illustrates the geographical 
difference outlined above. Table 2 illustrates the current wait for home 
care and again shows the differing tensions by district.

Page 48



District Current Number of Vacant Beds per District
Cheltenham 204
Cotswolds 195
Forest of Dean 31
Gloucester 178
Stroud 185
Tewkesbury 113

852

Cheltenham Cotswolds Forest of Dean Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury
0

50

100

150

200

250

Current Number of Vacant Beds per District

54

26

50

39

46

23

Cheltenham Cotswolds Forest of 
Dean

Gloucester Stroud Tewkesbury 
0

10

20

30

40

50

60
Cheltenham
Cotswolds
Forest of Dean
Gloucester
Stroud
Tewkesbury 

Total Number of Individuals in each District awaiting a POC

Table 2

Page 49



Reasons for change

19.Taken together these factors culminate to create a “burning platform” that means 
the County Council needs to act now. The proposed review will aim to identify the 
following:

i. The initial impact of Covid on the market. 

ii. How this impact has changed what we ‘knew’ about commissioned 
providers.

iii. How this impact has changed what we ‘knew’ about the wider market.

20. Using surveys, focus groups, workshops, interviews supported by data scrutiny and 
analysis we aim to identify key areas of concern and work through potential 
suggestions for change in the short medium and longer term. The work will be 
shaped by the market analysis work undertaken in line with the dates as outlined 
below.

Options: 

OPTION1: Do nothing 

21.There is a risk to the wider market in the medium and longer term in doing nothing. 
Gloucestershire has a surplus of care beds and the number of vacancies is rising as 
people choose alternatives to care homes to meet their medium and longer-term 
needs. We also have a responsibility under the Care Act to manage the market. The 
2020-21 pandemic has had and continues to have an impact on the market.

22.People have told us they want to be supported to remain in their own homes for 
longer; the options for homes with their own front door that have/provide access to 
care and support have changed and developed. However, it is still important to 
ensure that there is sufficient capacity in the care market should residents need to 
move out of their own homes and communities. At the same time we know that 
there is an ongoing need for residential support for those who require 24-hour care 
or those that lack the capacity to make the right choices in relation to their health or 
safety. 

OPTION 2: Undertake a review of the Adult Social Care Market and the impact of 
the 2020-21 Pandemic 

23.Covid has had a significant impact on the market and continues to do so. In order to 
effectively commission into the future, the need to obtain an understanding of the 
situation from the perspective of the market is imperative to effectively shape future 
provision. We have anecdotal information regarding the impact of the pandemic 
however, without fully engaging the market in identifying both issues and potential 
solutions we risk causing further damage an already fragile market. 

24.As commissioners we need to understand the perspective of the care businesses 
and frontline care workers both in terms of the initial and ongoing impact of the 
pandemic and how, or whether, these viewpoints differ. The conversations are 
intended to enable us to commission suitable care that will be able to meet 

Page 50



individuals’ needs, in their own localities knowing that Covid has changed the 
landscape. They will also aid in mitigating some of the current increased costs that 
the council is incurring for people living with advanced dementia or complex care 
needs and would aid the integration of care and support services (with health 
services) in respect of such people. This process would help the council by enabling 
it to continue to influence the sustainability of the care market which forms part of 
the Council’s duty under the Care Act 2014. But more importantly this process will 
engage our residents and businesses in developing plans for the future of the 
county and take into account how the pandemic has changed these needs.

OPTION 3: Implement a Change Programme for the Adult Health & Social Care 
Market to mitigate the impact of the 2020-21 without undertaking a review.

25.The Integrated Commissioning teams receive regular feedback from their various 
contacts with providers during contract monitoring, quality reviews, brokering and 
general enquiries. Through these various sources we have anecdotal information 
relating to the impact of the pandemic and have identified some potential options to 
help mitigate the impact.

26.There is a risk in undertaking an engagement exercise at this time of year so 
potentially introducing measures to support the market without discussing issues 
with the market could mitigate this risk. However, the negative aspects of the 
pandemic continue to influence the acuity of need in our residents and the ability of 
providers to recruit and retain staff and in turn to manage ongoing delivery. 
Identifying potential solutions in partnership will generate more rounded solutions 
that our commissioned providers own and are willing to work to implement. It will 
also demonstrate the value that the Local Authority places on this sector and the 
role they play in supporting our citizens.

Equality implications

27.An outline equality impact assessment has been undertaken, however as part of the 
engagement exercise we aim to identify specific impacts of the pandemic on both 
the workforce and users of Health & Care services and whether these have been 
felt more or less by any specific protected.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

28.A DPIA will be required in as the information will relate to either users of Adult Social 
Care services or providers of care and support services. Information will therefore 
relate to vulnerable adults or will be of a commercially sensitive nature. Work will be 
undertaken with the Council’s Information Management Service to identify and 
mitigate risks.

Social value implications

29.The current contracts encourage Health & Social Care providers work to with 
communities and to utilise the voluntary and community sector to enhance the 
person-centred aspects of their care delivery. However, the model of delivery does 
not always allow time for this engagement to take place. The consultation and 

Page 51



engagement exercise we intend to undertake will review whether this is currently 
part of the delivery and if not, how we can use this review and future commissioning 
reviews to increase this collaborative approach. We will therefore map the potential 
for social value in the engagement process.

Consultation feedback

30.The outcome of the review and engagement exercise identified in this report will be 
reported to Cabinet for further consideration.

Officer recommendations

OPTION 2: Undertake a review of the Adult Social Care Market and the impact of 
the 2020-21 Pandemic 

31.Undertaking an engagement exercise with the market will allow us to develop 
solutions in partnership, which will hopefully result in a stronger implementation 
process as all stakeholders will understand and own the solutions. It also clearly 
demonstrates that we have listened and continue to listen to our commissioned 
providers and want to work with them to resolve or at least mitigate the effects of the 
pandemic.

32.The timing of the engagement is unfortunate however to delay talking to the sector 
further could be potentially more damaging. Undertaking this engagement earlier 
was also not an option as we were dealing with the pandemic itself and the 
distribution of guidance in relation to lockdowns, testing, PPE distribution, vaccines 
etc.

33.  In addition, much of the impact of the pandemic is only now being felt so an earlier 
exercise may not have mapped the full ramifications of dealing with the aftermath of 
the first eighteen months of and the ongoing consequences of Covid19.

Performance Management/Follow-up 

34.The timeline set out in the introduction to this report sets out the next steps 
regarding engagement with the care market together and further consideration by 
the Cabinet.

Page 52



Page 53



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Establishment of a Day Centre provision for care assisted  young people at 
Trevone House

Cabinet Date 10 November 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies- Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet agreement for the commissioning of  a Day Service 
provision for care assisted young people, delivered at Trevone House,  to  
promote the development of social skills, independence, wellbeing, and attain 
accredited qualifications, thereby supporting the young people to progress. 

Establ

Recommendations

That Cabinet

1. Delegates authority to the Assistant Director for Integrated Children 
and Families Commissioning in consultation with the Cabinet Member 
for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years to:

(a) conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a 
contract for the provision of Day Service activities centre 
services at the multi agency resource hub building at Trevone 
House Gloucester The proposed contract shall continue for an 
initial period of  4 years and include an option to extend its term 
for a further period of not more than  2 years;

(b) award such contract to the preferred tenderer; and 

(c) determine whether to exercise the option to extend such contract 
for a further period of not more than 2 years on the expiry of the 
initial 4 year term

Page 55

Agenda Item 9



Reasons for 
recommendations

On 1st July 2020, Cabinet awarded a contract for the delivery of semi 
Independent  accommodation and Support Services for vulnerable young 
people at Trevone House to Homes2 Inspire Limited. This contract had an 
initial term of 5 years with an option to extend for a further two years, with an 
estimated maximum value of £12.9M. 

The proposed Trevone House Day Service further aims to provide 
savings on the existing levels of expenditure and reduce the pressure on 
the External Placement budget over the life of the contract. The space 
under consideration was originally intended to accommodate a GCC 
team. However, recommendations in the recent Ofsted Improvement Plan 
necessitated a change in strategy. The space is now available to deliver a 
Day Service within the locality, which would improve the ability of care 
assisted young people to live independently at an earlier stage.

A well managed Day Service has the potential to reduce the numbers of 
young people staying in the care system. In addition it will prevent young 
people coming into care and /or move straight into their own tenancy 
where they can live independently.

The approach of this programme is evidence based. A Coaching model, 
Wellbeing, Life Coaching, Education and Employability will run 
thematically through everything that is undertaken.  These will also 
signpost young people to other services and provide opportunity to use 
ICT services.

This additional service will incentivise, reward and encourage young people 
to participate in workshops and recognise their engagement and success in 
managing tenancy and moving on, managing good health and wellbeing, 
healthy food, exercise, sleep, dealing with money and rent and developing 
practical life skills. The programme will also provide strategies for maintaining 
good mental health and avoiding drugs and alcohol, and will support a 
reduction in offending and anti-social behaviour.

Resource 
Implications

There  is a budget of  £2,169,852 over 6 years (£361,642 per annum) set 
aside to fund the Day Service provision.
The proposed contract shall continue for an initial period of  4 years and 
include an option to extend its term for a further period of not more than  2 
years.

Page 56



Background 
Documents

Cabinet paper April 2019 
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62592/01.07.20%20Trevo
ne%20House%20Award%20officer_decision_FINAL.pdf

Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-18
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-
policies/children-and-families/

Right Placement First Time – Sufficiency Strategy 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-
people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/

Council Strategy 2019-2022 includes the following priorities for 
Gloucestershire for Children’s wellbeing and safeguarding:

 Make Gloucestershire a child-friendly county
 Increase the resilience of children and families
 Intervene effectively to keep vulnerable children and 
          Young People safe
 Make sure children in care and care leavers get the best 
          possible opportunities

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083042/gcc_2325-council-
strategy-2019_dev20.pdf

Action on Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs)
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/schoolsnet/noticeboard/schoolsnet-
bulletin-board/action-on-adverse-childhood-experiences-aces-launches-
new-elearning-package/

Statutory Authority The Children Act 1989

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Wendy Williams – Assistant Director Children and Families 
Commissioning
Tel. no: 01452 328526
Email: : wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Cabinet approval November 2021 
Procurement January  2021
Service commence Spring 2022

Page 57

https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62592/01.07.20%20Trevone%20House%20Award%20officer_decision_FINAL.pdf
https://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s62592/01.07.20%20Trevone%20House%20Award%20officer_decision_FINAL.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-policies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-policies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083042/gcc_2325-council-strategy-2019_dev20.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083042/gcc_2325-council-strategy-2019_dev20.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/schoolsnet/noticeboard/schoolsnet-bulletin-board/action-on-adverse-childhood-experiences-aces-launches-new-elearning-package/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/schoolsnet/noticeboard/schoolsnet-bulletin-board/action-on-adverse-childhood-experiences-aces-launches-new-elearning-package/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/schoolsnet/noticeboard/schoolsnet-bulletin-board/action-on-adverse-childhood-experiences-aces-launches-new-elearning-package/
mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. In April 2019, Cabinet agreed that an experienced Provider should be commissioned to 
deliver semi independent accommodation and support services for young people. These 
services, based at Trevone House in Gloucester benefit young people and their families, 
as well as offering significant opportunity for savings with placement costs. 

2. A tender was published in the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU) in December 
2019 for a contract which included a lease that ran alongside the length of the service 
contract, thereby enabling the provider to deliver the service in Council owned property at 
Trevone House.

3. On 1st July 2020, Cabinet awarded a contract for the delivery of semi- Independent 
Accommodation and Support Services for vulnerable young people at Trevone House, for 
an initial term of 5 years with an option to extend for a further two years, with an estimated 
maximum value of £12.9M to Homes 2 Inspire Limited

4. Trevone House was commissioned in September 2020 to provide flexible semi-
independent provision for up to 19 Young People aged 16 years plus (mix of studio 
apartments, two bed apartments and 1 bed apartments and one Emergency/PACE bed). 
There are two T4 step down beds which makes for a total of 21 beds.

5. Currently young people move onto leaving care accommodation, which is often shared 
occupancy, or solo provision. These are difficult environments to develop their 
independence skills or sustain community connections and links to education employment 
or training. Our young people have told us leaving care can be a very difficult experience, 
with limited accommodation options which are of poor quality, making them feel vulnerable, 
lonely, unprepared and anxious, as they struggle with all the challenges adult life brings.

6. Informed national research consistently demonstrates that care experienced young people 
have some of the poorest outcomes in adult life, they are at higher risk of being exploited, 
having poor mental health, being drug or alcohol dependent and experiencing 
homelessness. A well structured, fully integrated Day service at Trevone will provide the 
critical support needed for care assisted young people residing at Trevone, as well as other 
Gloucestershire young people to address identified needs and develop skills for 
independent living. This will also have the potential of reducing the numbers of young 
people staying in the care system for longer periods. 

7. In establishing Trevone, the County Council sought to provide savings on the existing 
levels of expenditure and reduce the pressure on the External Placement budget over the 
life of the contract, whilst simultaneously ensuring that the Provision delivered the best 
outcomes for Gloucestershire young people.  Commissioners view the Day Centre and 
Accommodation at Trevone as one singular service, capable of providing a seamless 
continuum of support services for our care assisted young people. Our intention is 
therefore to fully utilise existing infrastructures and service fundamentals to ensure 
maximum integration and interchangeability between the Day Centre and the 
Accommodation service of Trevone. 

Page 58



8. The curriculum for those using the Day Service will be primarily about engagement and 
wellbeing.  Attendance at various workshops, sessions and activities will be outcome 
focused and follow an individual learning plan. They have been designed to balance 
interaction and engagement and to promote the development of social skills, 
independence, wellbeing, and support young people to attain accredited qualifications. 

9. Independence and wellbeing skills will be young person centred and led by an assessment 
process that will focus on their Quality of Life (QoL), Boxall Profile, young people’s 
outcome Star, and Independence assessment, all supported by ASDAN qualifications.

The Day Service will use a Trauma Informed Model of Care (TIMoC) throughout in 
supporting young people to understand:

 the importance and restorative nature of sleep
 nurture
 nutrition
 fast feet first
 narrative therapy 

10.The programme will be predicated around a Wellbeing and Life Coaching model, whilst 
Education and Employability will run thematically through everything that is undertaken.  
These will also signpost young people to other services and provide the opportunity to use 
ICT services. 

11.This additional service will incentivise, reward and encourage young people to participate 
in workshops and recognise their engagement and success in managing tenancy and 
moving on, managing good health and wellbeing, healthy food, exercise, sleep, dealing 
with money and rent and developing practical life skills. The programme will also provide 
strategies to maintaining good mental health, avoiding drugs and alcohol, avoiding 
offending and anti-social behaviour.

Options
There are a range of options open to Members to achieve our aspirations, each with varying 
financial implications.

Option 1: Do nothing

12.Continue with the existing contract with Homes2Inspire Ltd for the supply of Semi 
Independent accommodation at Trevone House and by consequence thereof, direct care 
assisted young people to use external services within and outside County to support their 
wellbeing and learning to independence

Page 59



Risks 

13.Care assisted young people will be required to use multiple pathways and resources for  
managing tenancy and moving on, managing good health and wellbeing, healthy food, 
exercise, sleep, dealing with money and rent and developing practical life skills,  good 
mental health, avoiding drugs and alcohol, and offending and anti-social behaviour.

14.Most services have waiting lists and care assisted young people may not be a priority or 
even meet the criteria to be able to access accredited training programmes.

15.The lack of a Day Service program locally for care assisted young people would delay their 
ability to live independently much earlier. It also has the potential to increase the time 
young people  remain in the care system, and delay their ability to move straight into 
tenancy, fully equipped in their journey to wellbeing and independence.

16.There is further risk in relation to the Council’s ability to respond to vulnerable families in a 
timely and appropriate manner, especially during and after pandemic.

17.With little or no support, care assisted young people will be left with escalating needs and 
meeting the threshold for specialised services, which would be more costly and be for 
extended periods of time. 

Option 2: GCC to manage and operate the Day Service within the County Council 
structure

18.The Day Service is for young people who meet the threshold and are in need of accredited 
training and development programs. It is anticipated that there will be a high number of 
young people living at Trevone House using the service.

19.This option will offer young people access to accredited training and development 
programs that promote and develop independence skills and stability, achieve good 
outcomes and successfully move into adulthood.

20.This option will involve continuation of the existing contract, with Homes2Inspire Ltd 
offering semi-independent accommodation within the substantive Trevone building, whilst 
the Day Service will be managed and operated by GCC within the same premises.

Risks

21.There is a lack of skilled workforce in-house to deliver the structured, evidence based 
programme and outcomes to meet the needs of care assisted young people.

22.Care assisted young people will be required to use multiple pathways and resources for 
managing tenancy and moving on and there could be lack of coordination and poor 
outcomes.

Page 60



23.This option is significantly high risk in that the predicted costings to bring the Service within 
GCC will far exceed the allocated budget.  There will also be substantial duplication of 
costs around management, pathways and ICT. 

Option 3: undertake a competitive procurement exercise

24.This option would require GCC to undertake a compliant tender process to the open 
market thereby opening service delivery to a competitive market

25.The successful Provider could be the incumbent Trevone service providers who would then 
be in a position to achieve even greater economies of scale thereby reducing costs further.  

26.This option would ensure that GCC is complaint with the Public Procurement Regulations 
(2015) which require fair and open competition applies to public bodies seeking the supply 
of goods, services or works.

27.This option is capable of being delivered within the set budget.

Risks

28.This would have the longest lead-time to offering support to care assisted young people in 
Gloucestershire during and after pandemic.

29.This option could incur duplication of costs, especially around management and pathways.

30.Should a different Provider be awarded the contract, it could require intensive support from 
the Council and both Providers, to ensure that, existing Trevone House services and the 
new Provider are able to work together seamlessly which could impact on delivering better 
outcomes for young people.

Option 4: Variation of the Trevone House Independent accommodation contract with 
Homes2Inspire Ltd, to include provision of a new Day Service provision.

31.This option will offer young people access to accredited training and development 
programs that promote and develop independence skills, and stability, achieve good 
outcomes and successfully move into adulthood.

32.The service can be managed as part of the present contract with additional performance 
management and efficiencies.

Page 61



33.Contract variation to an existing Provider who already offers services will allow for longer 
term planning of coordinated services to take place using contracted performance data. 

34.This option would allow continuity of care for vulnerable young people during and after the 
Covid pandemic, increase their resilience and offer children in care and care leavers 
opportunities to achieve independence quicker.

Risks

35.There is a significant risk that a contract variation in favour of Homes2Inspire Ltd will be 
subject to challenge under the Public Contract Regulations 2015 (PCRs). The PCRs does 
permit contract variations/modification but only on very limited grounds. 

36.Officer advice is that for this project, a variation in favour of Homes2Inspire Ltd without 
conducting a competitive procurement process is highly likely to expose the County 
Council to legal challenge under the Public Contracts Regulations (2015), should a 
Provider disagree.

37. If any legal challenge were to be successful, it is likely to have significant damaging impact 
on the Council’s ability to swiftly set up a much needed Day Service for care assisted 
young people and there is likely to be significant damage to the Council’s reputation as well 
as potential financial penalties.

38.This option is capable of being delivered within the set budget. However any successful 
legal challenge to the Council will likely incur financial penalties, which would far negate 
any savings achieved from the contract modification.

Preferred Option

Cabinet is asked to consider Option 3 as the preferred option

39. In summary, it is the view of Officers that Option 1 is not tenable. Whilst there are obvious 
saving to be made through non-expenditure of the allocated budget, doing nothing will 
continue to substantially hinder progress of our care assisted young people transitioning 
into adulthood. Option 2 is the least cost effective option and would incur costs far 
exceeding the set budget. Option 4 is perhaps the most likely to deliver extensive savings 
alongside best outcomes for care assisted young people. However to follow this course of 
action will expose the Council to serious legal challenge. 

40.  By choosing Option 3, Commissioners are confident that the Day service can achieve best 
outcomes for Gloucestershire young people by taking advantage of already established 
facilities and services at Trevone house, thereby achieving the aim of a fully integrated 
service for our care assisted young people, capable of being delivered well within the set 
budget.
   

Page 62



41.Option 3 has the lowest procurement and legal challenge risk and It will ensure that all 
Providers are given the opportunity to bid and the Council to select the solution which best 
meets the Council’s requirements. 

Financial implications
A budget of £2,169,852 has been set aside to fund the Day Service over a 6 year period. The 
Council will be expecting all submitted proposals to be within budget, whilst ensuring that the 
Day Service delivers quality provision to meet the needs of young people.  

Providers will therefore be directed to submit tenders that are equal to or less than the budget.  

Climate change implications
None identified

Equality implications
An Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) has been completed 

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

In 2019 a full Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) was undertaken with wide-ranging 
consultation before creating the new semi-independent accommodation and Day Service at 
Trevone House. The proposed Day Service provision  is therefore an extension to the existing 
service.

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications
None disproportionate impact identified.

Social value implications
Provision of the Day Service for Gloucestershire’s most vulnerable young people will improve 
their quality of life. It will also increase opportunities for disadvantage young people.

The tender process will invite Providers to include how they would deliver increased social 
values as part of their bid submission.

Consultation feedback

A full pre-engagement and consultation process was undertaken before awarding the contract 
to Homes2Inspire.  This was undertaken with young people and their families, stakeholders 
and partners. 

Page 63



Stakeholder engagement events were undertaken with operational staff, NHS staff, Education 
staff, Gloucestershire Constabulary and the VCS sector.

There has been local engagement events for the community to find out more about the 
development and works planned. These will continue once the new Provider is in place.

Consultation with Gloucestershire's care experienced young people took place, with two 
young ambassadors fully involved with the design, consultation and tendering of the Trevone 
House.

Officer recommendations

Considering the options and associated risks, Officers advise that Option 3 is recommended 
to establish a Day Service.

 Cabinet is asked to:

1. Delegate authority to the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years to:

(d) conduct a competitive procurement process in respect of a contract for the 
provision of Day Service activities centre services at the multi agency 
resource hub building at Trevone House Gloucester The proposed contract 
shall continue for an initial period of  4 years and include an option to 
extend its term for a further period of not more than  2 years;

(e) award such contract to the preferred tenderer; and 

(f) determine whether to exercise the option to extend such contract for a 
further period of not more than 2 years on the expiry of the initial 4 year 
term

Page 64



Performance management/follow-up 

Robust monitoring frameworks will be put in place and monitored quarterly.  All performance 
data will be evaluated as part of developing and commissioning services for young people

This project will be accountable to the Assistant Director for Integrated Children and Families 
Commissioning and will follow the daily, weekly and monthly monitoring regime of the contract

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Implementing a Modified Dynamic Purchasing System (MDPS) for Professional 
Services in Childrens Social Care

Cabinet Date 10th November 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Stephen Davies, Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To seek authorisation to procure a Modified Dynamic Purchasing System 
(MDPS) for the provision of Professional Services in Childrens Social Care to 
include; Independent specialist assessments, therapeutic and mentoring 
support and family support services.

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Executive Director for Children’s 
Services, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years to: 

1. Procure a Modified Dynamic Purchasing System (MDPS) for the 
provision of Professional Services in Childrens Social Care. The 
proposed MDPS shall continue for an initial period of 5 years and 
include an option to extend its term for a further period of not more 
than 2 years;

2. Determine whether to exercise such option to extend on the expiry of 
the initial 5 year term;

3. Admit or remove service providers to/from the MDPS during its term in 
accordance with the selection criteria thereunder;

4. Procure contracts for the supply of independent specialist 
assessments, therapeutic and mentoring support services and family 
support services from service suppliers admitted to the MDPS whose 
combined aggregate value shall not exceed £10.5 million. In the event 
that the value of any single proposed contract under such MDPS will 
exceed £500,000, a separate Cabinet decision shall be required in 
order to authorise the award of such contract; and

5. Report back to Cabinet on an annual basis throughout the term of the 
MDPS in order to provide details of the combined aggregate value of 
contracts awarded by the Council under the MDPS in the preceding 12 
month period.

Page 67

Agenda Item 10



Reasons for 
recommendations

Completing a successful tender process for the provision of professional 
services identified will enable the Council to:

- Improve outcomes for some of our most vulnerable children and young 
people through the provision of bespoke packages of support

- The Local Authority has access to a high quality, independent and 
timely assessment service

- Secure value for money and efficient use of public funds as well as 
ensuring compliance with GCC Accounting Instructions and 
procurement policies

Resource 
Implications

Rates of Children in Need, Children subject to a Child Protection Plan and 
Children in Care coupled with the rate of referrals and the percentage of re-
referrals into Children’s Social Care have been rising since 2013/14 and, with 
this increase, there is a growing demand for support from the councils 
services, commissioned services and an increase in financial support being 
offered. Growing demand has put pressure on the budget but more effective 
commissioning should address a significant part of this.
Based on spend levels in children’s social care for the provisions to be 
outlined in the proposed MDPS, the spend last year was £1.3m. Estimated 
spend for the MDPS is expected to be in line with this cost with a slight 
increase for any anticipated increase in demand for the required services and 
for factors out of the councils control. Therefore, the estimated value of the 
MDPS is estimated to be £1.5m per year, hence the total value of a 5 year 
MDPS will be £7.5m.  If the council elects to exercise its 2 year extension 
option under the MDPS, the total contract value will be £10.5m, and, at this 
level, can be covered from existing budgets 

Background 
Documents

None

Statutory Authority Childrens Act 1989
- Section 17 – Provision of services for children in need, their families 

and others;
- Section 47 –  reasonable cause to suspect a child is suffering or likely 

to suffer significant harm;
- Section 31 – care and supervision orders;
- Section 20 – duty to accommodate a child.

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

All

Officer Name:  Wendy Williams, Assistant Director for Integrated Children and 
Families Commissioning
Tel. no: 01452 328526
Email: wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Timeline - November 2021: Cabinet decision 
- November 2021 – January 2022: Produce contract specifications and 

procurement pack 

Page 68

mailto:wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk


- February 2022: Provider/Market Engagement
- March 2022: Undertake procurement
- June 2022: MDPS operational

Page 69



Background 

1. Under the Children Act 1989, local authorities are required to provide services for children 
in need for the purposes of safeguarding and promoting their welfare. Local authorities 
must undertake assessments of the needs of individual children and must give due regard 
to a child’s age and understanding when determining what, if any, services to provide. 
When assessing children in need and providing services, specialist assessments may be 
required.

Current Situation

2. Children’s Social Care, through assessments and legal planning meetings, identify support 
required for the child and their family. 

3. The support needed is individualised and therefore there are a number of providers and 
organisations that are commissioned on a spot purchased basis. 

4. Rates of Children in Need, Children subject to a Child Protection Plan and Children in Care 
coupled with the rate of referrals and the percentage of re-referrals into Children’s Social 
Care has been rising since 2013/14 and, with this increase, there is a growing demand for 
support from our services, commissioned services and an increase in financial support 
being offered.

5. As part of the Sufficiency Strategy, Gloucestershire County Council introduced a range of 
newly formed panels with a view to increase efficiencies and to ensure adequate oversight 
and financial grip is applied to the allocation of resources. 

6. The Access to Resources Panel has been set up specifically to ensure consistency of 
practice and decision making across children’s social care and in response to the need to 
manage limited resources more effectively in relation to Section 17 and the children in care 
discretionary budgets.

7. Following the introduction of the Access to Resource Panel in Commissioning, there is a 
better understanding of the types of support that is being requested to support families.

8. The below tables highlight the top spends in Children’s Social Care over the last two 
financial years

Financial Year 19/20

Request Category
Amount 

Requested by 
Teams

Amount 
Approved by 
Resources 

Panel

Specialist Assessments (PAMs, Cognitive, 
Psychological etc...) £405,509.56 £321,332.73

Advocacy Services / Mentoring / Welfare Visits / 
Contact £115,058.62 £71,507.12

DNA/Drug/Alcohol Testing £158,528.60 £131,362.40

Page 70



Therapies (Play, Art, Equine, Etc.) / Counselling £139,986.39 £98,821.39
£819,083.17 £623,023.64

Financial Year 20/21

Request Category
Amount 

Requested by 
Teams

Amount 
Approved by 
Resources 

Panel

Specialist Assessments (PAMs, Cognitive, 
Psychological etc...) £716,168.64 £596,585.40

Advocacy Services / Mentoring / Welfare Visits / 
Contact £254,795.04 £178,231.75

DNA/Drug/Alcohol Testing £248,011.78 £226,421.16
Therapies (Play, Art, Equine, Etc.) / Counselling £160,117.55 £101,743.75

£1,379,093.01 £1,102,982.06

9. As a result of current arrangements, there is a lack of quality and oversight for Children’s 
Social Care Professional Services providers being commissioned by social care teams 
directly, varied and differing costs amongst providers for the same provisions being offered 
and provider spend, individually and cumulatively, exceeds the procurement thresholds.

Proposed Action

10.The Council therefore intends to procure a Modified Dynamic Purchasing System (MDPS) 
for Professional Services in Childrens Social Care under which it shall procure the 
following services under the following lots (which correspond with the council’s main areas 
of spend);

- Lot 1 - Independent Specialist Assessments (included Drug and Alcohol Assessment)

- Lot 2 - Therapeutic Support

- Lot 3 - Mentoring support and family support services (contact, welfare visits)

Within the Public Contracts Regulations (2015) (PCR 2015), there is a Light Touch 
Regime (LTR) for certain education, health and social care contracts. This is where we 
have more flexibility to modify the procurement process to meet service needs.

In order to be clear where we are using a modified process, rather than the procedure 
defined in PCR 2015 the use term “pseudo” is used. 

Options

11.Officers have considered different options when establishing the best route to market for 
professional services:

Page 71



Option Number Option Description
Option 1: 
Establish a 
Modified DPS on 
the basis set out 
in the 
Recommendations 
above 

Recommended 
option

- The proposed MDPS providers can easily join the MDPS 
throughout the year which means providers will be able to 
join at any time; this will give Gloucestershire greater 
flexibility to deliver these services.

- If a court instructs a specific provider, officers can 
encourage them to join the MDPS therefore reducing 
repeated spot purchasing of experts.

- There is no guarantee of demand, so the local authority 
would only be paying for the services it uses

- Providers can be monitored/audited in a systematic way
- Effective contract management, as providers will be 

required to comply with our quality standards and minimum 
service standards

- Upfront agreed costs with providers for the assessments 
and any other associated costs, along with volume 
discounts

- If the demand in care proceedings does not reduce, GCC 
will be covered through the MDPS.

Option 2: 
Establish a 
pseudo framework
agreement

- Procurement law prohibits new suppliers from being 
admitted to Framework agreements post-commencement, 
hence if the Court were to instruct a specific provider, who 
is not on the framework, to undertake a specialist 
assessment, it would lead to spot-purchasing because they 
would be prohibited from joining the framework.

Option 3: Block 
contracts

- Financial consequences may arise from under-used 
capacity if the anticipated demand for the block contracted 
service is not realised (demand is not guaranteed)

- There is a risk that the chosen providers will not be able to 
meet the need and/or demand to cover assessment 
services across Gloucestershire and support needs for 
children

- Assessments and support are bespoke to individual 
circumstance and so a block contract may not provide the 
flexibility required for the service.

Option 4: 
Continue to
spot purchase

- If there are no contracts for professional services in place 
the council would continue to spot purchase such services. 
This could negatively affect the quality of assessments and 
support as the council could potentially be purchasing from 
providers who are not fully compliant with the required 
standards needed to undertake the work (i.e. Safeguarding 
Checks, Appropriate registration with regulatory bodies). It 
could also negatively impact on care planning timeframes 
and even the Courts timeframes.

- Spot purchasing does not ensure the best value for money 
and due to the level of spend is unsuitable for these 
services.

- Such purchases would be in breach the council’s Contract 
Standing Orders, and potentially public procurement law 

Page 72



- Spending levels could continue to rise if no intervention or 
formal commissioning arrangements are established.

- Quality of services will vary and the council will be unable to 
manage poor performance.

Option 5: Do 
nothing

- This is not an option as under Section 11 of the Children 
Act (2004) or Sections 17, 31, 20 and 47 of the Childrens 
Act 1989. GCC must safeguard and promote the welfare of 
children.

Risks 

12.The following key risks and issues associated with the contract and contract award have 
been identified, along with mitigation activities:

Risk Description Mitigation Activity
Providers may not want to sign up to the 
proposed MDPS and therefore, a level of 
spot purchasing outside the MDPS may 
continue.

- The MDPS will be open 
continuously to allow new providers 
to join.

- The tender process will be 
simplified as much as possible so 
that sole traders will not be deterred 
from submitting a bid.

- Market engagement events will be 
undertaken in order to take 
providers through the full tendering 
process and documentation 
ensuring they are aware of how to 
submit a compliant bid.

- Running market engagement 
events throughout the lifetime of the 
MDPS to encourage the market to 
join the MDPS.

Internal compliance from social care 
teams to follow the process in requesting 
support and as a result, unauthorised spot 
purchases

- Children and Families 
commissioning hub to be 
‘custodians’ of the Section 17 
budget for a period of time  so that 
full accountability/spend can be 
managed

Financial implications

13.This report seeks authorisation for the Council to go out to tender for a 7 year (5+2) 
contract for providers to deliver bespoke targeted and time limited intervention packages to 
Children in Need, Children in Care and Children subject to a Child Protection Plan as well 
as specialist assessment needed to inform planning. Evidence suggests that these types of 
intervention work can achieve tangible cost savings due to their effectiveness which would 
have a long-term benefit against the Children’s placement budgets if we were to bring 
children in the care of the local authority. 

Page 73



14.The majority of spend derives from existing social care budgets and it is envisaged, 
through the continuation of Access to Resources Panel, there should be cost savings and 
cost avoidance to bring costs back to budget. Through having the Dynamic Purchasing 
System, it provides an opportunity to manage costs more effectively and over time a 
reduction in costs by fixed costs, seeking volume discounts and increased scrutiny 
regarding need for the support.  

Climate change implications

15.Carbon emission implications on this project are neutral, and the project is not vulnerable 
to climate change. 

Equality implications

16.Has an Equalities Impact Assessment (EIA) been completed? Yes

17.Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) indicates that there are no significant impacts identified 
in respect of protected characteristics

18.Where potential impacts have been identified, through regular monitoring, these can be 
maximised or minimised to ensure there are no negative impacts.  

19.Cabinet Members should read and consider the Equalities Impact Assessment in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given

Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

20.Due to the nature of information that will be shared with and received from providers, and 
the sensitive nature of the work that is being carried out with Gloucestershire’s most 
vulnerable children and families, there will be a need for a DPIA. This will be produced as 
part of the development of the service specification and relevant officers will be consulted 
to ensure that the DPIA is robust and meets the needs of the service as well as our duties 
as a local authority which will have high regard to the safeguarding of children and families. 

Social value implications

21.Provision of support packages for Gloucestershire’s most vulnerable individual children 
and young people will improve their quality of life. It will also increase opportunities for 
disadvantaged young people and families and increase children’s and young people’s 
safety or well-being

22.The tender process will invite providers to include how they would deliver increased social 
value as part of their bid submission.

Consultation feedback

23.Direct engagement with children, young people and families did not take place because it 
was not deemed appropriate to engage with residents that are currently going through 
court proceedings.

Page 74



Officer recommendations

24.The Officer recommendations to Cabinet are to;

Authorise Option 1 set out in paragraph 11 of this Report

Performance Management/Follow-up 

25.Providers will have to submit performance reports and 6 monthly contract monitoring will 
take place.
 

26.The Access to Resource Panel will report on activity to the Childrens Services Leadership 
Team

Page 75



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TITLE: Children & Families Capital Programme Update

Cabinet Date 10th November 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Philip Robinson, Cabinet Member for Economy, Education and Skills 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To approve changes to the previously approved Children & Families Capital 
Programme.

Recommendations

To approve the changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme as 
set out in the report: 

1. A new scheme totalling £1.6million to provide a primary SEMH facility 
at the Heart of the Forest Community Special School, funded by the 
transfer of £409k from the Healthy Pupils Capital fund and 
£1.191million from the unallocated High Needs Provision fund. 
(subject to the conclusion of the statutory process approving the 
expansion of the Heart of the Forest Community Special School to 
provide 10 additional places for children and young people aged 4-11 
who have a primary need of Social Emotional and Mental Health 
(SEMH) from September 2022)  

2. An addition of £1million for Warden Hill Primary funded by £800k from 
unallocated basic need and £200k from the approved carbon reduction 
in education properties funding.

3. An addition of £77k S106 developer contribution for expansion works 
at Chipping Campden School.

4. An addition of £115k S106 developer contribution for expansion works 
at Farmors School.

Reasons for 
recommendations

County Council approved the Children & Families Capital Programme for 
2021/22 on 17th February 2021.  This paper provides an update of individual 
schemes within these programmes.

Resource 
Implications

All proposed changes to the Children and Families Capital Programme are 
fully funded by capital grant, developer contributions and revenue 
contributions.

Page 77

Agenda Item 11



Background 
Documents

 Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) - Council Budget 2018/19, 
2019/20 & 2020/21

 Gloucestershire County Council’s School Places Strategy 2021-2026

 Gloucestershire County Council’s SEND Commissioning Strategy 
2019-24

Statutory Authority

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

Cllr Beki Hoyland, Cllr Emma Nelson, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Dom Morris

Officer Name:  Clare Medland, Head of Commissioning for Learning 
Tel. no: 01452 328686 
Email: clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Timeline Cabinet meeting 10th November 2021 - Updates to Cabinet on further 
changes to the programme as required.

Page 78

mailto:clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Background 

1. County Council approved the 2021/22 Childrens & Families Capital programme at its 
meeting on 12th February 2021.  This report provides an update to various schemes agreed in 
this programme.

Proposed changes to the approved capital programme

New primary provision for children and young people with Social Emotional and Mental 
Health (SEMH) 

2. As part of the Council’s ongoing option appraisal for meeting the increasing demand for 
special school places, an opportunity has been identified to work with the Heart of the Forest 
Community Special School, to expand its offer to provide 10 additional places to be available 
for primary age children with SEMH from September 2022.  The proposal will enable some of 
our most vulnerable children to be supported close to where they live.

3. A statutory process for the prescribed alteration to allow the school to offer the 
additional provision is currently underway with a final decision to be taken between 18th and 
30th November.  Proposals for the new accommodation are progressing with an initial 
feasibility cost for the work of £1.600million.  It is proposed that the scheme is funded using 
the £409k unallocated Healthy Pupils Capital grant fund, which is to promote initiatives 
including improving children and young people’s physical, mental health and wellbeing, 
together with £1.191million from the unallocated High Needs Provision fund to provide 
additional places. The use of this funding will address our priority need to provide these 
additional high needs SEMH places to support some of our most vulnerable children and 
young people.

Warden Hill Primary School

4. Cabinet agreed a scheme for the replacement of the 2 form entry primary school of 
£6.503million.  Since the scheme was approved the detailed design has been progressed and 
planning permission has been granted.  The additional elements of the scheme include costs 
associated with the subsequent demolition of the original school buildings, clarification of 
scope of works to deliver a carbon neutral building, the cost for diverting and upgrading 
services to the new school, additional off site highway works to promote walking and cycling 
as well as seeing an increase in the costs of some materials compared to previous estimates.  
The revised cost for the replacement school is £7.503million.  It is therefore proposed to 
increase the budget by £1million by transferring £800k from the unallocated basic need grant 
together with £200k from the approved carbon reduction in education properties funding.

Section 106 Developer contributions

Chipping Campden School 

5. The Council is in receipt of a £77k S106 contribution from housing 
development at Cider Mill Lane, Chipping Campden towards the ongoing expansion of 
Chipping Campden School. The school is currently progressing a scheme to extend capacity 
and it is proposed to allocate these funds as a contribution to this scheme. 

Page 79



Farmors School

6. The Council is in receipt of a total of £115k S106 contribution from housing 
developments at London Road, Fairford and Land east of Bell Lane, Poulton to be used 
towards improving capacity at Farmors School.  A scheme as been developed in accordance 
with the terms of the agreement and it is proposed to allocate these funds to deliver this 
scheme. 

Overall Change to Capital Programme

7. As a result of the above changes the Children & Families Capital Programme will 
increase by £192k. 

Capital Spend 2021/22 

8. The Children and Families capital spend as at the end of August is £12.521million 
against the budget of £42.134million. Details of the budget, forecast and spend can be found 
in Appendix A.

9. In addition to the projects referred to above there are a number of key projects which 
have been previously agreed and the update is as follows:

New High School, Leckhampton 

10. Development of the new 900 place High School, Leckhampton is progressing at pace 
with the new provision scheduled to open September 2022.   The new school, which is run by 
the Balcarras Academy Trust, opened as planned in September 2021 for pupils in Year 7 only 
in temporary accommodation provided at the Balcarras site.    

Further information can be found at https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-
learning/school-planning-and-projects/cheltenham-school-places/school-places-in-
cheltenham/ 

New 75 place SEMH School

11. Construction of the new 75 place SEMH Special School for 11-16 year olds 
commenced in May this year.  The school, which will open in September 2022, while focusing 
on SEMH needs, will also support children with autism as well as speech, language and 
communication needs.  The school will be sited at Mill Lane, Brockworth and will be part of the 
Learn@ Multi Academy Trust, a well established MAT responsible for special schools and 
alternative provisions.  By providing places locally to meet demand we can support some of 
our most vulnerable children close to where they live and reduce reliance on out of 
county/independent schools to have their needs met.  

Further information can be found at https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-
learning/school-planning-and-projects/specialist-and-alternative-provision/

Page 80

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/cheltenham-school-places/school-places-in-cheltenham/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/cheltenham-school-places/school-places-in-cheltenham/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/cheltenham-school-places/school-places-in-cheltenham/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/specialist-and-alternative-provision/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/school-planning-and-projects/specialist-and-alternative-provision/


Options

12. (1) To approve the recommendations and note the changes to the Children & Families 
Capital Programme to enable the schemes to proceed.

(2) to not approve the recommendations to provide additional places or agree funding 
to ensure delivery of existing approved schemes.   

Risks 

13. Risk of overspend against individual schemes. This will be reduced by effective 
management of the programme and suppliers by the Council’s Asset Management and 
Property Services and will be overseen by the Head of Commissioning for Learning.

14. Risk that school capacity exceeds demand. Pupil forecasts for each area within the 
county are reviewed on an annual basis to provide assurance that any school expansion is 
timed to meet expected increase in need for places. As seen by the proposals in this report, 
this enables the Head of Commissioning for Learning to reallocate funding to those schemes 
where there is the most pressing need when these forecasts alter. 

15. Risk that schools are not expanded in time to meet the demand for additional 
places. The forecasting approach enables the council to effectively plan ahead to mitigate 
this. In addition, where permanent expansion cannot be achieved within necessary timescales, 
temporary arrangements can be put in place to meet need and costs are factored into the 
planning for this. In terms of special school places, lack of capacity would result in children 
being placed in non-maintained independent schools but this would have a significant impact 
on the dedicated schools grant revenue budget. 

16. Risk that Covid-19 delays proposed schemes.  We are getting reports from 
contractors about seeing increasing costs and potential longer lead in times for materials.  
While there has been no significant impact we are working with schools and contractors to 
monitor the situation and assess the need for any mitigation measures to ensure continuity of 
school provision.  This will continue to be monitored on a monthly basis and mitigating plans 
developed where necessary.

Climate change implications

17. Where applicable the capital works will support the Council’s Low Carbon Agenda 
through delivering buildings which minimise emissions associated with the construction 
materials and the whole life running costs of the buildings themselves.  

Equality implications

18. These decisions will ensure the council meets its statutory duties to provide sufficient, 
accessible school places and improve the facilities and provision for children and young 
people, regardless of their level of need, background and status.  

19. The individual schemes will be subject to user audit so that their impacts on all groups 
of society, including those with a protected characteristic(s), are assessed and mitigated 
where appropriate

Page 81



Data Protection Impact Assessment (DPIA) implications

20.      A DPIA is not required for this decision because it does not involve the collection, 
storage or use of personal data.

Social value implications

21.      The Council will seek where possible to ensure projects maximise the additional social, 
economic and environmental benefits to the local area.

Consultation feedback

22. Consultation has taken place with the Lead Cabinet Member, service areas, schools 
and other organisations where appropriate in the development of this strategy.

Officer recommendations

23. Officers recommend that Cabinet adopts option 1 and approves the proposed changes 
to the identified schemes for progression as necessary.  This will enable the council to meet its 
statutory duties with regard to school place sufficiency and improving outcomes for children 
and young people in Gloucestershire. 

Performance Management/Follow-up 

24. Each scheme will be subject to its own oversight and monitoring by the Head of 
Commissioning for Learning.

Page 82



Appendix A 

Children's Services Capital Programme 2021/22

Project Description
Total 

Budget
Total 

Spend to 
Date

Spend
Previous

Years

Budget 
2021/22

Forecast 
2021/22

Spend to 
Date 

2021/22

Future 
Years' 

Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
General Schools Programme
Advanced Design 20/21 136 109 107 28 28 1 0
Advanced Design 2021/22 100 19 0 100 100 19 0
Alderman Knight expansion 1,900 1,453 1,246 219 219 208 435
Ashchurch Primary replace temps 1,016 915 510 416 438 405 90
Balcarras School hygiene suite 55 7 0 55 83 7 0
Barnwood Park School hygiene room 95 93 93 2 2 0 0
Basic Need Grant 2020/21 4,862 0 0 940 500 0 3,922
Basic Need Grant 2022/23 6,774 0 0 0 0 0 6,774
Belmont expansion 603 550 127 443 443 423 33
Bishops Cleeve New Primary School 11,000 441 357 3,225 3,225 84 7,418
Bishops Cleeve Primary additional places 225 0 0 225 225 0 0
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary expansion 1,004 936 936 34 34 0 34
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary, expansion 990 967 967 23 23 0 0
Cam Hopton Primary platform lift 55 0 0 55 124 0 0
Carbon Reduction in Education Properties 1,000 0 0 300 300 0 700
Caretakers Properties 20/21 8 8 7 1 0 1 0
Caretakers Properties 2021/22 10 0 0 10 14 0 0
Chipping Campden School Performing Arts 828 313 292 536 536 22 0
Chosen Hill School hygiene suite 77 8 0 77 115 8 0
Christ Church Primary s106 adaptations 153 153 153 0 0 0 0
Churchdown Village Junior kitchen refurb 183 0 0 0 183 0 183
Cirencester Kingshill s106 adaptations 138 83 75 63 92 9 0
Cirencester Primary replace classrooms 2,039 1,911 1,901 138 100 10 0
Cleeve School 1FE expansion 5,477 5,370 5,336 50 50 33 91
Cleeve School dining facilities 206 184 184 23 23 0 0
Coopers Edge Primary, FFE & ICT 288 288 286 2 2 2 0
Dursley Primary remodelling 274 176 176 98 98 0 0
Early Years 18/19 89 1 1 25 25 0 63
Eastington Primary outdoor teaching area 89 86 80 9 9 6 0
Fairford Primary 2 classrooms 3,438 3,290 3,290 10 10 0 138
Farmors School s106 adaptations 130 125 125 5 100 0 0
Finlay Primary 1FE expansion 1,369 1,266 1,265 104 127 1 0
Gardners Lane Primary 2 Class Extension 948 938 938 10 10 0 0
Gardners Lane Primary kitchen refurb 175 85 0 0 175 85 175
Gloucester & Forest APS new site 150 6 0 150 150 6 0
Gloucester Road Primary s106 adaptations 159 4 1 157 151 3 0
Gotherington Primary s106 expansion 196 9 0 196 196 9 0
Grangefield Primary, ICT/FFE 152 77 77 45 45 0 30
Great Oldbury Primary Academy ICT/FFE 350 0 0 150 150 0 200
Hartpury Primary hygiene room 107 99 99 7 7 0 0
Healthy Pupils Capital Fund 18/19 409 0 0 409 209 0 0
High Needs Provision Capital 21/22 1,988 0 0 350 350 0 1,638
Hunts Grove, ICT/FFE 406 163 163 55 55 0 188
Kempsford Primary dining centre 83 83 75 0 8 8 8
Leckhampton Primary expansion 4,298 3,447 2,933 865 865 514 500
Longford Primary, ICT/FFE 271 226 226 15 15 0 30
Mickleton Primary, kitchen upgrade 99 99 89 9 9 9 1
Mitton Manor Pre-School 8 7 7 0 0 0 1
Mitton Manor Primary outdoor learning 69 68 68 1 1 0 0
Naunton Park Primary kitchen refurb 85 2 0 0 155 2 85
New Secondary School, Cheltenham 30,000 11,674 6,411 15,589 16,589 5,263 8,000
New SEMH Special School 9,750 1,801 381 4,819 5,100 1,421 4,550
Park Infant hygiene room 122 121 121 1 1 0 0
Parton Manor Junior additional classbase 247 237 237 10 10 0 0
Pittville School access works 25 0 0 25 25 0 0
Pittville School expansion 264 255 255 9 9 0 0
Pittville School hygiene room 91 89 89 2 2 0 0

Page 83



Project Description
Total 

Budget
Total 

Spend
Spend

Previous
Years

Budget 
2021/22

Forecast 
2021/22

Spend to 
Date 

2021/22

Future 
Years' 

Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000

Rednock School sports hall 309 180 171 138 138 9 0
School Kitchen Upgrades 2021/22 246 6 0 0 0 6 246
Schools Condition Allocation 2020/21 885 0 0 500 340 0 385
Schools Condition Allocation 21/22 4,605 0 0 0 0 0 4,605
Schools Health & Safety 2021/22 134 61 0 134 150 61 0
SEND Support in mainstream schools 37 17 17 20 20 0 0
Shurdington Primary expansion 1,459 1,454 1,454 5 5 0 0
Springbank Primary hygiene room 63 58 58 5 5 0 0
St. David's Primary expansion 1,500 211 211 0 0 0 1,289
The Cotswold School expansion 5,800 4,130 2,064 3,536 3,536 2,065 200
The John Moore Primary expansion 2,253 2,233 2,233 20 22 0 0
Upton St. Leonards Primary hygiene room 109 104 104 5 5 0 0
Warden Hill Primary replacement 6,503 325 161 2,000 1,500 165 4,342
Winchcombe Abbey Primary expansion 1,500 113 113 5 5 0 1,382
Winchcombe School expansion 4,747 3,711 2,574 2,000 2,000 1,137 173
Woodmancote Primary hygiene room 77 70 70 7 7 0 0
Wyedean School hygiene room 113 110 110 2 2 0 0

125,401 51,024 39,020 38,471 39,253 12,004 47,910

Schools Capital Maintenance Programme 5,254 2,397 1,892 3,120 2,597 505 242

Total Schools Capital Programme 130,655 53,421 40,912 41,591 41,850 12,509 48,152

Non-Schools
Barnwood Residential Home 375 1 0 375 300 1 0
Short Breaks Capital Grants 861 810 803 58 58 7 0
Southfields Semi-Independent Accomm 2,500 0 0 50 50 0 2,450
Townsend House 2,500 0 0 50 50 0 2,450
Trevone House 2,932 2,926 2,922 10 61 4 0

9,168 3,737 3,726 543 519 12 4,900

Total Children's Services Capital Programme 139,823 57,158 44,638 42,134 42,369 12,521 53,052

Page 84



REPORT TITLE: Financial Monitoring Report 2021/22

Cabinet Date 10th November 2021

Cabinet Member Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cabinet Member for Finance and Change 

Key Decision Yes

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2021/22 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position based on September 2021 
(Period 6) forecasts for the 2021/22 financial year is an overspend of 
£4.027 million all of which relates to non Covid-19 expenditure, as we are 
forecasting a balanced position in relation to Covid-19 expenditure and 
income.  

2. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of August 2021 
of £153.790 million against the current budget of £157.873 million.

3. Approves the £451k increase to the capital programme as outlined in 
Section B of the report and approves the re-profiling of current year 
budgets to reflect the current forecast. 

Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure that Councillors and the public are made aware of the Council’s 
current financial position.

Resource 
Implications

These are detailed within the report

Background 
Documents

MTFS Report to 12th February 2021 County Council and Financial Monitoring 
Report to Cabinet 21st July 2021 and 22nd September 2021

Statutory Authority

Divisional 
Councillor(s)

County Wide

Officer Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926

jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 85

Agenda Item 12

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Timeline Not applicable

Revenue Expenditure 2021/22

A. Revenue Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of 
£483.008 million, based on forecasts in September 2021 (Period 6) is an overspend 
of £4.027 million after utilising grants for Covid-19 expenditure. 

2. The largest non-Covid-19 variance is the £7.973 million forecast overspend in 
Children and Families – this overspend is partially offset by the £4.193 million 
underspend in Technical & Countywide. 

3. The Council’s forecast cost in regard to the Covid-19 pandemic (excluding 
expenditure funded from specific grants) is estimated to be £22.472 million in 
2021/22 which is funded by £11.526 million 2021/22 Covid-19 Emergency Grant 
and carry forward from 2020/21 of £10.946 million emergency grant. A balanced 
position is therefore forecast for Covid-19 related activity.   

4. In addition to the £22.472 million of general Covid-19 grant funding detailed above, 
the Council has also received specific Covid-19 related grant funding. The specific 
grant allocations for 2021/22 total £15.134 million with an additional £17.197 million 
carried forward from 2020/21. Details are in the table below;-:

Page 86



Covid Grant analysis £m

Carry 
forward 
for 22/23     

£m

Received 
for 21/22 

£m

Brought 
forward 

21/22     
£m

Other Covid -19 related grant £m £m £m

Infection Control Grant  4.334 4.334

Department for health and Social Care-Rapid Testing 3.031 3.031

Test & Trace 0.926 -0.500 1.426

Covid-19 Bus Service Support Grant 0.180 0.180

H2ST DFE grant 0.576 0.237 0.339

DHSC -Contain Outbreak Management fund 10.523 -5.789 2.974 13.337
Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Winter Grant 
Scheme 0.524 0.524
Department for Work & Pensions -  Covid Local Support 
Grant 1.419 1.419
MHCLG Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) people
Tranches 1-4 .  1.435 0.205 1.230Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government 
(MHCLG)Clinically Extremely Vulnerable (CEV) people.  
Tranche 4 for March 21 expected May 28 2021 0.000 0.000

Community Testing 0.418 0.009 0.409

Holiday & Activities Fund 20/21 1.547 1.391 0.156

DWP Local Support grant 0.355 0.355

Practical support payment 1-5 0.629 0.508 0.121

Other Covid -19 related grant 25.896 -6.289 14.988 17.197

5. The following additional grant allocations have been confirmed since the previous 
Cabinet Report

 Department for Health & Social Care Community Testing £9k
 Department for Education Home to School Transport grant £151k
 Department for Health & Social Care Practical Support payments £654k

6. The assumption in this report is that relevant expenditure will be limited to the value 
of these specific grants – any underspend will either need to be returned or carried 
forward to be spent in accordance with the grant conditions in future years.

7. An analysis of the current forecast position is provided in the table and narrative 
below. 

Page 87



Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position September Forecasts 2021 (P6)

Variance

Revised 
2021/22 
Budget

%
Forecast 

excluding 
Covid-19

£000 £000 £000 % £000 £000

Adults 156,326 159,657 3,331 2.13% 3,331 0 

Prevention & Wellbeing 35,576 35,688 112 0.31% 209 -97 

Children & Families 126,557 143,716 17,159 13.56% 9,186 7,973 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 75,888 79,621 3,733 4.92% 3,733 0 

Community Safety 19,966 20,056 90 0.45% 85 5 

Corporate Resources 35,533 41,772 6,239 17.56% 5,900 339 

Total for Services 449,846 480,510 30,664 6.82% 22,444 8,220 

Technical & Countywide 33,162 28,997 -4,165 -12.56% 28 -4,193 

Total 483,008 509,507 26,499 5.49% 22,472 4,027 

Additional Funding Covid-19 
including carry forward to be 
allocated

22,472 0 -22,472 -22,472 

Revised Total 505,480 509,507 4,027 0.83% 0 4,027 

Service Area

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Covid-19 
Forecast

Page 88



Adult Social Care 

8. Adult Social Care is reporting an underlying overspend of £3.331 million which 
includes £3.331 million for the COVID-19 costs.  Excluding the COVID-19 costs 
ASC are reporting a small overspend of £0.254 million, which can be covered by the 
Vulnerable Adults Reserve. Therefore Adult Social Care is forecasting a balanced 
position excluding Covid-19 spend. 

9. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £8.457million. The reserves continue 
to be held as Vulnerable Adults Reserve at £5.430 million, with £3.027 million carry 
forwards from 2020/21 anticipated to be used in 2021/22, primarily due to delays 
caused by COVID-19.

10.There continues to be a number of significant risks that are ongoing which mainly 
relate to, COVID-19, S117 backdated payments, responding to winter pressures, as 
well as the Adult Single Programme (ASP)

11.The forecast cost of the COVID-19 response for 2021/22 within Adults is made up of:
 £1.431 million of support to care providers
 £0.069 million additional workforce spend
 £0.027 million on PPE
 £0.091 million additional demand
 £0.104 million miscellaneous spend across a range of budgets
 £1.174 million ASP savings at risk
 £0.435 million Historical saving delayed by COVID 19

£3.331 million funded by General COVID-19 Grant

 £7.365 million of COVID-19 Specific Grant – Infection Control Fund and 
Rapid Testing Grant, 1 & 2

12.Learning Disabilities External Care is projecting a £1.6 million underspend. The £1.6 
million relates to £642k of underlying underspends and a further £958k of MTFS 
funding which is not expected to be used during 2021/22 because of delays relating 
to COVID-19, this funding will be needed next financial year..

13.Older People (OP) and Physical Disabilities (PD) is reporting an £3.248 million 
overspend. The overspend is split across individual service budgets with OP 
showing as £1.823 million and PD £1.425 million.  The current overspend relates 
mainly to the brought forward underlying financial position, voids relating to homes 
run by a major provider, increased cover for bad debts and additional winter 
pressures.

14.The Mental Health position of a £1.707 million overspend as calculated by the 
Gloucestershire Health and Care NHST Finance Team. A long term plan is being 

Page 89



developed with Gloucestershire Health and Care NHS Trust to address the 
underlying overspend.

15.Other Services comprise of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as a 
number of specific commissioned contracts. The position for these services nets to 
a £1.589 million underspend, including significant variances of:

 £870k overspend in Reablement in respect of yet to be delivered ASP 
2021/22 savings.

 £1.919 million of significant underspends: £666k Care Act due to 
delayed projects/recruitment; £775k OP/PD Integrated Social Care 
Management (ISCM) due largely to vacancies; and £478k LD 
Assessment, Support Planning & Management mainly due to vacancies. 

Prevention and Wellbeing 

16.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number of 
smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants. In total Prevention 
Services are £112k over-spent but this includes £209k of Covid-19 expenditure. 

17. In total Covid-19 grants either carried forward or allocated in year to the Council 
total £19.085 million. The funding will be targeted at continuing the containment and 
management of the outbreak through testing and tracing, supporting vulnerable 
groups and communities. 

18.The underlying non-Covid-19 position for Prevention and Well Being is a £746k 
under-spend. Public Health services are funded by a ring-fenced grant, which if 
unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific reserve. The Public Health 
(PH) position, excluding Covid-19 expenditure, is forecast to be £649k under-spent 
and this will be transferred to the PH reserve at year end. Therefore the forecast 
non-Covid-19 underspend net of the transfer to the PH Reserve is £97k relating to 
prevention hub activities.

19. Initial estimates of supplier relief for supporting people providers against the general 
grant are £200k; the actual position will be clarified in the Autumn 

20.The in-year forecast for Public Health is an under-spend of £649k due to lower take-
up for health checks as fewer people are currently accessing the service and the 
cost of staff involved with the COVID response being charged to grants instead of 
the Public Health grant.

Page 90



Children & Families

21.The current forecast for the year end revenue position as at September 2021 for 
non-DSG funded services is an over-spend of £17.159 million (13.56% of budget). 
Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of Covid-19 
on budgets which totals £9.186 million giving an underlying over-spend of £7.973 
million. The significant over-spend continues to be against the external placements 
budget due to increasing numbers of children in care partly linked to the pandemic 
but also the number and cost of placements. Home to school transport and social 
care staffing costs are also over-spending. 

22.Additional forecast expenditure for the impact of Covid-19 covers three key areas 
which are external placement costs including the additional cost of accommodation 
for care leavers, cost of social care staff and support to vulnerable pupils. A 
significant part of this forecast includes the continuing impact on social care and 
education services even though lockdown measures have eased.

23.Activity levels within social care continue to cause significant budgetary pressures 
on children’s services and in particular against the external placement resulting in 
the over-spend. At the end of August 2021 children in care numbers were 827 
compared to 754 at the end of April 2020. Gloucestershire’s number and rate of 
children in care is above statistical neighbours, but remains below England average.

24.The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is £12.787 
million (41.1% above budget) and includes a contingency of £3.1 million for new 
cases in-year to allow for additional placements to replace existing care 
commitments or for higher number of placements due to increased activity. The 
forecast also includes the current and future impact of Covid-19 on placement 
numbers which totals £7.047 million resulting in an underlying over-spend of £5.74 
million. The underlying over-spend is due to the number of residential, fostering and 
supported living placements and also the cost of complex residential placements. 
The current forecast average unit cost of a placement is £114,700 per annum, 
(residential/supported living average unit cost of £187,900) and of the net variance, 
£2.7 million relates to activity and £3 million to price. There are currently 459 
external placements, of which 121 are residential and 123 supported living 
placements. 

25.To address this positon the strategy is to bring the child in care population more in 
line with statistical neighbours over the coming years.  This will involve a range of 
measures, aimed to impact on both numbers and associated costs, including  
 further developing our edge of care offer to support children at home and to 

prevent their escalation and entry into care;

Page 91



 increasing the number and proportion of children placed with in house foster 
care;

 continuing to develop our own placement provision with providers to exert a 
greater influence on the market and control costs;

 continuing to develop our permanence planning to reduce drift and delay and 
ensure children can leave our care in a timely manner by achieving permanence 
or reunification as appropriate.

26.Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast over-spend of £1.232 
million (6.4% above budget) with an underlying position net of COVID of £936k. 
Effective management of the workforce, improved processes for recruitment, more 
effective advertising and the support and training provided by the social work 
academy should address the current cost pressure. Turnover of staff is rising and 
has been between 16.5% and 20.3% over the last six months and at the end of 
August there were 85 agency workers in post. 

27.Home to School transport is reported as £1 million overspent and is due to the 
number and cost of the transport for SEN pupils, increased cost of procuring new 
routes and the number of solo journeys required.

28.The increase in the number of Education, Health and Social Care plans (EHCPs) is 
causing a budgetary pressure in SEN budgets with a reported over-spend of £288k 
net of COVID. Whereas in-house fostering and adoption services are under-spent 
by £521k due to activity at the start of the year being below budgeted assumptions. 

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

29.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent by 
£18.283 million in 2021/22, which includes the deficit carry forward of £13.67 million 
and the current year deficit budget for High Needs of £4.093 million including recent 
adjustments between Local Authorities. The deficit budget results from setting 
realistic budgets within high needs services considering growth trends and existing 
activity demands on special school and independent provision and top up budgets. 
High needs top-up budgets for colleges, primary and secondary schools are 
forecasting a £1.25 million overspend due to increased demand.

30.The budget pressures that Gloucestershire is facing reflect the national picture with 
significant deficits in DSG high needs being held in many Local Authorities. The 
implementation of the High Needs Strategy will be essential to ensure the budget is 
balanced in future years and a spending review of services is in progress with a 
financial recovery plan being reviewed and developed alongside this review. 

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure

Page 92



31.Economy, Environment and Infrastructure are currently forecasting an overspend 
position of £3.733 million (4.9% of the budget).  This is all down to the impact of 
Covid-19 related costs or loss of income as set out in the paragraphs below.

32.Loss of income is forecasted to be £2.115 million which is split between £208k from 
Registrations and Libraries, £1.849 million from parking related income and £58k 
from other income.

33.Covid-19 costs are forecasted to be £1.618 million made up of £680k for the 
Economic Recovery Strategy, £25k for PPE and social distancing related spend, 
£339k for additional Covid related expenses against Highways and £206k of other 
spend across the directorate on a range of issues. Included within the £1.798 million 
of Covid 19 costs are unachievable savings relating to £124k for registration & 
library income and £244k against parking fee income which are both highly unlikely 
to be achieved.

34.There is a non Covid-19 overspend forecast against Highways due to the high level 
of road defects arising from the prolonged period of bad weather which has required 
additional gangs and material spend in quarter one of £430k. If we continue with the 
additional gangs and materials throughout the year then we will be forecasting an 
overspend of circa £1.72 million.  EE&I are looking to absorb £420k with vacancies 
throughout the year and a Lead Cabinet Member key decision has been taken to 
fund up to £1.3 million from un-ring fenced reserves such as the Insurance Reserve 
therefore we are currently forecasting a balanced position for EE&I excluding the 
Covid-19 related pressures outlined above.

Community Safety Directorate

35.The Community Safety Directorate is forecasting an overspend of £90k (0.45% of 
budget). Estimated costs attributed to Covid-19 amount to £85k so excluding these, 
the forecast outturn indicates a minor overspend of £5k. The figures include £587k 
of carried forward funds, approved by June Cabinet, to implement the Fire and 
Rescue Service Improvement Plan.

Corporate Resources

36.Corporate Resources are forecasting an overspend of £6.239 million (17.56% of the 
budget). Included within these figures is the forecast additional cost of the impact of 
Covid-19 on budgets which totals £5.9 million giving an underlying overspend of 
£339k.

Page 93



37.The additional forecast expenditure of £5.9 million for the impact of Covid-19 
incudes £100k in the Asset Management & Property Services budgets, £75k against 
Occupational Health, £77k Information Management Service, £40k in Policy & 
Performance, £698k Legal costs, £180k in the Directorate budget together with a 
contingency allocation of £4.729 million which is available to support known Covid-
19 related commitments in 2022/23.

Technical and Countywide

38.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Countywide budgets is a £4.165 
million underspend, included within these figures is a £28k additional cost of the 
impact of Covid-19, giving an underlying underspend of £4.193 million . The main 
areas of variance are highlighted in the paragraphs below.

39.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances are forecast to produce a £964k 
under spend during the year. This is lower than previous years as a result of lower 
interest rates introduced to mitigate the economic impact of Covid-19. 

40.The 2021/22 budget includes a savings contingency. This was approved by Council 
to reflect the high risk nature of some of the savings programmes in demand led 
areas in 2021/22. £1.229 million is being used to support the overall budget position 
for 2021/22. 

41.The 2021/22 budget includes a Pay & Price provision to fund unexpected price 
increases during the financial year - £800k is being released to support the overall 
budget position for 2021/22. 

42.There is a forecast underspend on the corporate Insurance budget totalling £425k 
based on trend analysis of insurance premiums.

43.An underspend of £775k within the Capital Financing Budget is now forecast 
following reductions in projected capital financing costs due to slippage on approved 
capital schemes.

Page 94



B. Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2021/22

44.The current capital budget for 2021/22 is £157.873 million. Actual spend against the 
capital programme as at the end of August 2021 (period 5) is £35.954 million.

Budget and Forecast Outturn Position 2021/22

45.The forecast outturn position for 2021/22 is £153.790 million, against the budget of 
£157.873 million, giving a forecast in-year slippage of £ 4.083 million.

46.The current year budgets will be re-profiled in October to reflect the current forecast 
spend in each service areas and the revised budget set at £153.790 million. This 
ensures the latest figures are included in the MTFS 2022/23.  This doesn’t affect the 
whole life cost of capital schemes. 

Service Area

Reprofiled
Budget
2021/22

Current
Year

Spend
2021/22

% Current
Year

Spend
Against

Reprofiled
Budget

Forecast
Outturn
2021/22

Forecast
Year-end
Variance

£'000 £'000 % £'000 £'000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0 0
Adults 6,726 983 15 8,812 2,086
Childrens Services

Schools 41,591 12,508 30 41,850 259
Non-Schools 543 12 2 519 -24

Economy, Environment & Infrastructure 0
Highways 66,189 16,844 25 63,754 -2,435
Strategic Infrastructure 5,321 172 3 4,809 -512
Waste Disposal 712 10 1 608 -104
Libraries 1,338 29 2 411 -927

Community Safety
Fire and Rescue Service 641 384 60 616 -25
Trading Standards 39 0 0 39 0

Corporate Services
AMPS 12,022 4,583 38 10,221 -1,801
ICT Projects 8,940 188 2 8,340 -600
Business Service Centre 227 82 36 227 0
Archives & Information Management 113 19 35 113 0
Customer 971 140 14 971 0
Investing In Self Funded Income Schemes 12,500 0 0 12,500 0

Total 157,873 35,954 23 153,790 -4,083

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2021/22

Page 95



Adults Capital Programme 2021/22

47.The Adults Capital Programme is forecasting an in-year overspend of £2.086 million. This 
accelerated spend is forecast following the agreement of the 2021/22 Disabled Facilities 
Grant (DFG) spending plan. Grant to fund this spend has already been received by the 
Council but was originally planned to be spent in future years. This is an in-year 
overspend only and has no effect on the overall capital budget. It is proposed that the 
budget will be re-profiled in line with the current forecast

Children’s Services Capital Programme 2021/22

Schools

48.The Schools Capital Programme is forecasting an in-year overspend of £259k. This is 
mainly due to a revised forecast spend profile for the New Cheltenham Secondary School,  
offset by slippage on various other projects. Funding for these schemes is already in the 
approved capital budget so this is an in-year overspend only and has no effect on the 
overall capital budget. It is proposed that the budget will be re-profiled in line with the 
current forecast.

Economy, Environment and Infrastructure Capital Programme 2021/22

Highways

49.The Highway Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £2.435 million against the 
current budget. This relates to an assessment of the risk of disruption caused by current 
resource shortages and anticipated problems with the supply of labour, plant and 
materials plus the unknown effects of Covid and winter weather. It is proposed the budget 
is re-profiled in line with the current forecast.

Strategic Infrastructure

50.The Strategic Infrastructure Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £512k against 
the current budget.  £384k relates to the Flood Alleviation capital programme where there 
have been delays in project milestones being reached cause by a number of factors 
including Covid restrictions. The remaining £138k relates to the Traffic Modelling project 
where data from National Highways (formally Highways England) has been delayed. It is 
proposed the budget is re-profiled in line with the current forecast.

Libraries

51.The Libraries Programme is forecasting slippage of £927k against the current budget. It is 
made up of £746k slippage due to Covid-19 related delays in the rollout of Open+ 
technology and £181k slippage in refurbishment schemes at Winchcombe, Cirencester, 
Charlton Kings, Prestbury and Bishops Cleeve libraries which have also been delayed 
until 2022/-23 due to Covid-19. It is proposed the budget is re-profiled in line with the 
current forecast. 

Page 96



Corporate Services Capital Programme 2021/22

Asset Management & Property Services (AMPS)

52.The AMPS Programme is forecasting slippage of £1.801 million against the current budget 
as a result of the impact of Covid -19. The followings schemes have slipped: 

 £500k Area Based Review
 £500k County Offices Cheltenham
 £265k Corporate Property Conditions Data Works
 £400k Social Care Services Remodelling
 £500k Quayside Multi Story Car Park
 £435k Minor slippage in a variety of schemes

This slippage has been offset by £800k earlier than anticipated spend on Quayside Health 
Hub. It is proposed the budget is re-profiled in line with the current forecast.

ICT

53.The ICT Capital Programme is forecasting slippage of £600k against the current budget.  
This relates mostly to Desktop replacements. It is proposed the budget is re-profiled in line 
with the current forecast.

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2021/22 and future years

Highways 

54. It is proposed that Cabinet approves a net increase of £257k in the Highways capital 
budget - £250k for the replacement of poles, push buttons and LED heads across 
the County funded from a Department of Transport grant and £7k additional 
contributions from parish councils to fund Community Offer projects.

Strategic Infrastructure

55. It is proposed that Cabinet approves an increase of £10k in the Flood Alleviation 
capital budget relating to a Local Levy grant from the Environment Agency for the 
Leigh PC project. 

Community Infrastructure 

56. It is proposed that Cabinet approves the addition of a new Community Infrastructure 
scheme and an £159k increase to the Capital programme. This funding is part of a 
Treescape project which will be a combination of capital and revenue spend over a 
four year period.  As part of the Climate Change & Air Quality Action Fund GCC 
have successfully bid for £282k of Local Authorities Treescape Grant from the 
Forestry Commission of which the first £159k will be a capital grant and then three 

Page 97



annual maintenance payments thereafter estimated to be circa £41k per year but 
actual values will be determined based on the actual number of trees planted.   

Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service

57. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £25k in the GF&RS capital budget 
for the upgrading of control room equipment funded by part of the Grenfell 
Infrastructure Grant from the Home Office.

Overall

58.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will increase by 
£451k. 

Page 98


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Report by the Monitoring Officer on an Investigation by the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman into a complaint about Gloucestershire County Council
	6 Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport
	7 Delivery of structural maintenance works 2022-2026.
	8 Market Shaping and Review of the Adult Social Care Commissioning & Estate Strategies
	9 Establishment of a Day Centre provision for care assisted young people at Trevone House
	10 Implementing a Modified Dynamic Purchasing System (MDPS) for Professional Services in Childrens Social Care
	11 Children & Families Capital Programme Update
	12 Financial Monitoring Report

